Early Central Pennsylvania M ethodism:

from Whitefield to Asbury
by Charles Berkheimer, 1968

Editor’s note: This was a major document in progras the time of Dr.
Berkheimer’s death, and not an article ready foblation. To keep the flow of
the paper, some of the author’s “tangents” haverbeenverted to footnotes.
Footnotes added by the editor, that were not pathe original manuscript,
conclude with “-ed.” Otherwise, the material isgzented as prepared by Dr.
Berkheimer in 1968 and preserved in the conferanckives with his other
research notes.

Covering the origins of Methodism in Central Pervenia in a single
paper is a difficult assignment. Now that the Herh Tier of counties previously
served from New York and several southern chargesiqusly served by the
Baltimore Conference have been placed within ownbaries, the paper must
also include material not previously found withiardnistorical collections. My
approach shall be to present the introduction ofhigidism into Central Pennsyl-
vania in broad terms, and then to discuss the esparof the work and the
creation of smaller circuits year-by-year beginningl789 and continuing until
the death of Asbury in 1816. This paper, then|l slzeacentrate on the develop-
ment of the circuits. Treatments of camp meetirfisnday Schools, contro-
versies, conference agencies and the like mustfaraginother time.

George Whitefield

The title “Methodist” is now borne with honor byet spiritual descendants
of John and Charles Wesley, but it was not condeatefirst as an honorable one
at all. It was thrown in ridicule at the pious ygumen at Oxford University in
England who were so methodical in their habits atship, devotions, social ser-
vice activities, and studies — indeed, in all nratef conduct. In addition to the
Wesley brothers, who are usually named as the fagndf Methodism, there
were a number of other devout students and instrsict the University who
belonged to the “Holy Club” and were dubbed “Metist&l’ by the impious. The
most eloquent preacher among them was George \idhdtetvho followed the
Wesleys to the New World but differed decidedlyhaibem in theology and the
promotion of “Scriptural Holiness.”

Whitefield became noted as an evangelistic preaaoh&merica, and vast
throngs of people crowded to hear him preach wiegrbe went. Not an organ-
izer or administrator, he established no formalet@s of his numerous converts
— although his influence upon people was profourid. 1741, on one of his
numerous trips to this country, he is said to happeared at Harris’ Ferry, now
Harrisburg, and stayed there for some time preagctorthe people who flocked



from all quarters to hear him. His biography makegeference to this incident,
but during that summer he made Philadelphia hisldnearters and embarked on
numerous trips into “the interior.” Mrs. Bell, ttigganddaughter of John Harris,
later reported that “so great was the fascinatiohi®eloquence that many of the
people neglected the cultivation of their farmg] #émeir fields were left unsown.”
The following winter, some were destitute becausthis and needed the help of
Mr. Harris to keep from starving. That he gavioithem is cited as a proof of the
liberal kindness of the founder of Harrisburg.

The first Methodist preaching in Central Pennsglgathen, was that of
George Whitefield at Harrisburg in 1741.

Early Local Preachers

The first advocates of Wesley’'s Methodism to aiiv America came not
as preachers, although they were licensed as fweatchers in their native land,
but as immigrants seeking a new home. They weigREmbury, a carpenter
who settled in New York City, and Robert Strawbgdg@ farmer who settled in
rural Maryland. Tradition says both started toagte about 1766, a few years
after coming here, with the distinction of being tfirst to proclaim the Word
belonging to Strawbridge. Recent studies have revealed that Strawbridget spe
the major portion of his time away from his homéyene he had established a
preaching place, on trips into Virginia and Penwagla to preach and establish
meeting places.

Where he preached in Pennsylvania is not reveaed, we can only
speculate that it was he who came about 1770 tplhee in present Adams
County where Rock Chapel was commenced in 1773fiarsthed in 1776. No

! Most recent opinion is that Strawbridge was preaght least by 1763. He is given credit for
founding the Methodist society in Leesburg VA, whigas deeded property on May 11, 1766.
That lot, the first Methodist-owned property in Arga, is owned by the Virginia Conference
Historical Society and is a National Historic Skeriof the United Methodist Church. During the
War of 1812, the Declaration of Independence ardXbnstitution of the United States were
removed from Washington DC for safe-keeping andéidfor a while in that site’'s Old Stone
Church. —ed.

2 In 1984 historians Ed Schell of the Baltimore-Wagton Conference and Raymond Bell of the
Western Pennsylvania Conference discovered thagiRSlrawbridge owned property in what is
now Huntingdon County PA as early as 1775. Wihikg/twere unable to fix the exact the location
of the property, their discovery did shed lighttbe heretofore unexplained “Methodist class”
without a preacher that Presbyterian preachergPhithian found in Shirleysburg 8/27/1775 and
the “old members” the first documented Methodistuit rider Robert Ayres found in the area in
June 1788 when he ventured into what he thoughtvirgis Methodist territory. In 1998 Central
Pennsylvania Conference archivist Milton Loyer kechthe property along PA-655 and Sideling
Hill Creek in Fulton County. Apparently the soutfidoundary of Huntingdon County was not
carefully determined until after 1800. Even tho®itawbridge and his heirs paid taxes in Hun-
tingdon County, and their 1798 sale of the propesyg recorded in Huntingdon County, the land
was later determined to be in present Fulton CouAsyRobert Strawbridge kept no journal, there
are still many unanswered questions regarding fieiaghing and properties in Pennsylvania. —ed.



name has come down in the tradition which recdndsabove dates, but the site is
not much more than fifty miles north of Strawbritdgeome in Maryland. At this
time there were not yet definite boundaries tos#eeral circuits that existed, and
the preachers were sent out to go where they waesta preach. In 1773, the
year of the first Conference, the Baltimore cirdugd four preachers — two of
whom were Francis Asbury and Robert Strawbridgeis much more logical to
conclude that Strawbridge or one of his co-laboress the one who appeared
here “about 1770” than to accept the suggestioh tttea Chester circuit, which
was not established until a year after Rock Chejael started, had sent one of its
preachers this far west.

But no matter who the preacher was, the date o 1the earliest date of
any record of an itinerant Methodist’s appearinthimi our Conference territory —
and 1773 is the earliest date for beginning a mgetiouse, and 1776 is the
earliest date for completing one. This preachifage was part of Little York
circuit, and later Carlisle circuit. It was relduih 1849 and still stands as a
Conference historic site — although now discontihas a preaching place, except
for an annual service.

The Strawbridge influence was also responsible dstablishing the
Conference’s second known preaching place, neaMidugland line, in 1772.
That fall Philip Gatch, a recent (January 1772)veshof Strawbridge’s, went
from his father's home “to a place he knew in Pghuasia on the road between
Baltimore and York” in an effort to test his catl preach. He made three ap-
pointments for a Mr. Perigo to preach — one of ¢hess near John Lawson’s,
south of present Shrewsbury, and the other two welkéaryland just south of the
Mason-Dixon line. Lawson entertained Gatch inHome, but he would not open
it for preaching because he was a professed Csiviih consequence, another
house was secured for the service. When the agobtme arrived, however,
there were two changes: (1) Mr. Perigo could nohe@nd Gatch himself was to
preach, and (2) Lawson had opened his own hom#h&service. This turn of
events helped confirm Gatch’s call to preach. IH=maphed until his location in
1778. Gatch later moved to Ohio, where he helgsehqreaching places and
served as a leading Methodist layman. For manysybka served as a circuit
judge in Ohio, where he died a much respected Mithpioneer.

John Lawson not only opened his house for preachuigshortly after his
conversion he erected a “house for school andioelsgmeetings” on his own
land. About 1788, this building was lost to thetMelists and Lawson’s relative,
John Low Sr, opened his home and remodeled it fiotewchurch services — with
a swinging partition fastened to the ceiling thatild be moved to provide room
for the congregation. This second place of worsbifghe area’s Methodists was

% Rock Chapel is under the care of the York Sprimsgregation. In addition to the annual
homecoming service the second Sunday afternooepteSiber, the Chapel holds a candlelight
service each Christmas Eve. The building, whiabpien by appointment for historical viewing, is
also used for weddings and other special occasiats.



known as Low’s Meeting House. From 1788 to 18 dhmmer meetings were
held in Low’s barn and the winter gatherings asdethim this house.

In 1815 John Low Sr and his wife died. Their etudkvoted son John
Low Jr then led the movement to erect Rock Chapatl {0 be confused with the
previously mentioned structure of the same namA@dams County) along the
York-Baltimore road, south of Shrewsbury and justae the Mason-Dixon line.
This was the mother church of Methodism in Shrewgb&tewartstown, and
probably Gatchelville. These founding saints dlteirderred in the adjacent
burying ground, also on the Low farm.

Another memorable related site is Low’s Camp Grouwaiso donated by
this family. Here for many decades the greatesagrers of Methodism came to
preach, and the spirit of Methodist revivalism @&awadngelism ran high and deep.
For years this was known as the Baltimore Camp Meggebecause throngs of
Baltimore Methodists attended annually. Later ecdime a National Holiness
Camp Meeting. It was run by an inter-conferencarbmf trustees, comprised of
members from the Baltimore and Central Pennsylv@oiaferences. When trains
became the chief means of conveyance for visitam fafar, the grounds were
moved from the Low farm to a new site along thé&@ad. It is now the Summit
Grove Camp Meeting, owned and operated by the tmwisand Missionary
Alliance Church.

In confirmation to the reference to John Lawsorhasleader of the first
class in Shrewsbury township, York County, therthésdiary of John Littlejohf.
He had been admitted on trial into the Conferenc&7i77 and appointed as one
of the four preachers on the six-week Baltimorewtr His journal includes the
following references:
eThursday, September 11 — preached at Brother Lds/fom Isaiah 38:1, “Set
thine house in order...” Met the class and we weiiekgned.
eThursday, November 6 — preached at Brother Lawdoors | Thessalonians
5:6, “Let us not sleep, as do others...”
eThursday, August 27 — preached at John Lawsonm atthew 21:23, “By
what authority doest thou these things?...” Caltadlie class papers and found
since April last some had met only 2,3,7,8,9 tim&swve them a class paper — a
faithful warning and serious admonition to bewafreraithfulness.

Little York Circuit

Methodism was now slowly expanding into York Coyntwvith its
overwhelming German population which was largelyhewan and Reformed in
church affiliation. Whoever would attempt to preacgospel of salvation which
could be experienced in an individual’s own life uleb have a hard time with

* The Littlejohn Journal is the property of the Laiiile Conference Historical Society. It was
copied by Miss Annie Winstead of The Upper RoomDorRaymond M. Bell of Washington PA.



most of the regular churchmen. But Freeborn Gsoet one of the three
preachers appointed in April 1780 to Baltimore @iravas the man to do it. He
spent January, February and part of April 1781 giveey and forming a circuit in
York County with considerable success. His JoufoalJanuary 24, 1781 says
that he “set out to form a circuit.” He tells afepching in many private homes:
including Hollopeter's (Wellsville), Worley's (Yodk Dover, Lewisberry,
McCleester's Town, Buttstown (Franklintown), Ablsittiwn, Dillsburg, and
Cumberland township. Some of these are now in Ad@ounty. His circuit was
to be called Little York, as distinct from New YorkHe does not mention a
Carlisle section. At Conference that year he reggb®0 members, and these
formed the nucleus of Little York circuit to whidPhilip Cox was appointed as
the first official itinerant in April 1781. This & the first regular circuit within
the bounds of the present Central PennsylvaniaeZence.

Little York circuit grew steadily, gaining new ogerts and adding
preaching places until it embraced the northerrt parYork County, all of
Cumberland County, and part of Perry County. Butever contained the ap-
pointments in the southern part of York County + &fter the old Baltimore
circuit was divided, Low’s and other preaching p&dn that area were part of
Harford circuit which was largely in Maryland.

On September 25, 1781, Francis Asbury made ls8s Visit to our Con-
ference territory when he rode to York on his wapnf Virginia to Philadelphia.
Here he met German Reformed pastors Ranckle anch&Wagho were quite
hospitable to him. Significantly, Pastor Wagned baen a pupil of and was now
a colleague of Philip William Otterbein — who haadtlYork for an independent
Reformed congregation in Baltimore in 1774, and \edsr a co-founder and
bishop of the United Brethren Church. Wagner nmaste shared some of his old
teacher’'s views on “experimental religion.” Asbugems to have spent several
days in and around York, but he does not mentienpnéaching places in his
edited journal.

In 1782 societies were organized at York, Wellsvdnd probably other
places. That August, Francis Asbury wrote thatrbde to Little York and dined
with Mr. Otterbein and Mr. Wagner.” He preached Monday the 1% in the
German school house. He seems to have remainéoriknfor about a week, but
whatever he wrote in his original journal was dedetn the editing he gave it
shortly before his death.

In 1783 Little York circuit reported 156 memberBrancis Asbury made
his third visit to the area and attended a Satu&layday quarterly meeting on
July 26/27 at James Worley’s who lived “in sight bfit about a mile west of the
little town of York. Worley was York’s first Methiist, converted after hearing
Garrettson preach in a tavern south of town in dgn781. His wife was con-
verted the following day when Garrettson preachedhe German Reformed
Church at York.



Per secution of York County Methodists

It does not need to be pointed out that during Resolutionary War
period, Methodism was an infant in a divided amdiied family. To begin with,
Methodism had its origins in England — as a societthin the Church of
England. Anything English was offensive to therjpés, and this included the
Anglican Church. Under this trial, most of the Esly preachers returned to
England, and those who remained discouraged Medtsoftom active participa-
tion in the war. And when Wesley wrote his widedad tract opposing the
American Revolution against England, it had serjpoigtical repercussions here.

Some Methodist preachers readily took oaths egahce to their states,
required of all males over 18 years of age, buemttiound the oaths unfair and
obnoxious to either pro-British or pro-American gmrs. John Littlejohn, on
Baltimore circuit in 1777 and having preaching pk&dn southern York County,
noted that the penalty for each sermon preachedrinister refusing to take the
oath was 5 pounds for each 100 pounds he possesard the alternative was
jail. Even before the Declaration of Independeand formal rebellion, Metho-
dists were mostly considered Tories — i.e., sympeath with England. In 1775
Littlejohn was taken before a magistrate for notihg a pass, and warned to drop
his association with Methodist preachers. LatereBeaped being tarred and
feathered by a mob only because a magistrate pedtéam.

Nor was Littlejohn the only pioneer preacher tg paprice for his prin-
ciples. Freeborn Garrettson, for example, who di@anLittle York circuit, was a
conscientious objector to warfare — his forbearsev@@uakers. In consequence of
this he was arrested, fined, assaulted, and thmedteith hanging on two oc-
casions by angry mobs. In fact, the year beforsethged Little York circuit he
was arrested while preaching one Sunday in CambrMDB and confined to a
dirty jail cell for weeks instead of being brougbttrial. This was designed to
keep him out of pulpits, and from traveling arowasda dangerous and subversive
person. Although in much physical discomfort, hasvepiritually lifted by his
own communion with his Lord and by the prayers aadcern of his brethren —
particularly Francis Asbury, who wrote to him, sbimh a book, and successfully
interceded on his behalf with the governor of Delesv

Pennsylvania, with its Quaker heritage and welcoonall religionists of
whatever creed, did not oppress the Methodistseqag severely. Captain
Thomas Webb of Old St. George’s in Philadelphiawéwer, was a different
matter. As a commissioned British army officer, vis@s naturally suspected of
being a spy and imprisoned in Bethlehem for 15 mm&ntAfter that, he returned
to England in 1788 — never to return.

And there were many Pennsylvania patriots who thowadl Methodist
preachers were indeed Wesley's agents — sent quessty for the purpose of
fighting against the revolutionary cause under sheeld of passive resistance.
This distrust and persecution also filtered downh converts of these pioneer
itinerants — although their persecution was notspial. It was a kind of ostra-



cism by their former friends, many times by thode®were members of the pre-
viously established churches. They could not kelibat Methodist theology was
orthodox, or that its customs and usages were gdyo@éaristian.

Philip Gatch, one of the founders of Methodismantiern York County,
was persecuted for such reasons — he was actaalgdtby a mob led by a man
who was enraged by his wife’s conversion. Amorgyrnlhmerous laity so perse-
cuted was Alexander Ewing of Gatchelville — theestor of a phenomenal list of
Methodist ministerial and lay descendants. His218Bituary inThe Christian
Advocatecontains this tribute: “One of the first five ms neighbor-hood who
embraced the religion of Jesus among the Methodlstthe midst of persecution
he joined the Methodist Episcopal Church, becantdass leader, and a some-
time local preacher. For about 40 years he kepghisnvay, possessed of a strong
mind and improved by the study of God’'s word. Hegehed the word with
power and was eminently useful in calling sinnersgpentance.”

Other Circuits Are Formed

Shortly after Philip Gatch established the firstguhing place in southern
York County, a Methodist local preacher named M&th&ryder purchased
property near Huntingdon. In 1773, he “built hithgemill and labored diligent-
ly to found Methodism among the scattered settletswas not until 1788 that
Huntingdon circuit was formed with Samuel Breezd Braniel Combs, but
Cryder must have succeeded in forming a class olirtivthis area a decade prior.
When Presbyterian missionary John Philip Fithisached Shirleysburg in 1775,
he wrote that “there is a Methodist Society hetthoagh they have no stated
minister” [see footnote #2 —ed.].

Soon Methodists had settled in Perry, Juniata, Miiflin counties. In
1784 Asbury set off a new circuit called Juniatanfrthat northern sector of Little
York Circuit that was too far to reach regularly e itinerant. Forty members
were transferred from Little York to the new circuiAsbury sent Simon Pile to
serve it — but either he did not go or he was iac#dpted during the year, for two
young preachers not yet on trial were sent therefmund or two of preaching.
One was John Paup, probably from near Wellsvilie] the other was Robert
Ayres’ from near Dillsburg — both likely converts of Fbeen Garrettson, and

® Ayres served as a Methodist itinerant only threfoor years and then went into the Episcopal
Church — but he kept a journal which was discoveeeently by Dr. Raymond M. Bell of
Washington and Jefferson College. From this jouforal785, we quote a portion descriptive of
the reach of the old Juniata Circuit.

*Wed, May 11 — started from Groves in Newberry telip, York County, and rode to Carlisle.
*Thu, May 12 — rode 10 or 12 miles to Thomas Sufféar Shermansdale, now Perry County]
and met a kind reception. Brother Such rode wigh3wr 4 miles to Brother James Mittens’,
where | lodged and was well used.

Fri, May 13 — rode 5 or 6 miles to George Evarigarried a little while and then rode over the
Tuscarora mountains, 24 or 25 miles to Wells’ Femthe Juniata River — and 2 miles over to

10



both to be admitted into the ministry on trial be thext Conference. At this
Conference James Riggin was sent to Juniata Gitnuiitafter that it was discon-
tinued and combined with Little York for some yearse-appearing again as a
circuit in 1804.

While scanning the old records to uncover the bsuof circuits and the
locations of preaching places, we must not losbtafj the fact that Methodism
was a missionary movement and all early preachamsidered themselves mis-
sionaries as well as evangelists. It was the dtithe preachers to map out new
sections for Methodist services and to make sugmesfor new circuits to be
formed. One of the most dramatic examples of ithiseen in the missionary
travels of young David Coombs — who with his brotBaniel, both from Bucks
County PA, joined the Conference on trial in 1787.

David was appointed to Little York and JuniatacQits combined, al-
ready a geographically extensive assignment. Mstyoung missionary was not
content to follow within the bounds of his predesm®s, for that year he traveled
up the Juniata Valley, crossed the Seven Mountand, formed a class at the
newly founded wilderness home of Philip and SushnAates in Bald Eagle
Valley, at present Curtin in Centre County. THess has had a continuous exis-
tence to this day, and a romantic history in prasgeninisters for the Master’s
Kingdom?

Brother Moore’s [near Mifflintown]. There | lodgeahd met the next morning with Brother Paup,
whom | was traveling to assist.

*Sat, May 14 — preached at Mr. Moore’s at 2 indfternoon.

*Sun, May 15 — had a lively Love Feast and publeaphing at 12. Brother Paup preached and |
exhorted... Inthe evening, rode to friend Cooksamd tarried. Next morning, rode to friend
Moore’s again. Brother Paup and | and 2 men crbs® Tuscarora mountain [returning east]
and came to Brother Leonard’s, where we lodged.

*Tue, May 17 — rode to friend Evans’ and took @avie after breakfast — distressing friend Evans
at our leaving. Rode to Titsell's where none camug so rode to Mittens’ where | preached and
Brother Paup exhorted. Next morning, went to BeotBuch’s and | spoke there. Next morning,
rode over North mountain [at Sterrett’'s Gap] andtigh Carlisle down to Brother Bricker's
[probably near Silver Spring], where we lodged.xtNaorning, rode to below Dill’s Tavern,
where we parted. | went to friend Styers’ wheneelt Brother Ellis [Michael Ellis, preacher in
charge of Little York Circuit].

*Fri, May 20 — rode to Sylvanis Day'’s, thence ferid Monturf's, thence to Brother Swisher’s
[near Rock Chapel, now Adams County] — next dapdp€uarterly Meeting.

*Sat, May 21 — preaching in the Chapel; BrotheisEBrother Bond, Brother Paup all spoke.
Friend Swisher gave a bond of performance [deent®}erning the meeting house land.

*Sun, May 22 — Love Feast, and all spoke. Stdrted Swisher’'s and lodged at Sylvanis Day'’s.
Next morning, started for my father’s and got thierthe evening. Spent the week with old
neighbors.

*Sun, May 29 — rode to Brother Styers, where | usgdach school, and preached. Thence, rode
up to Rock Chapel where | met Mr. Butler to go &ltBnore. Rode 50 miles to friend Bond’s and
Tuesday the 31rode into Baltimore. [At this Conference AyersidPaup were admitted on trial.]
® The first class met at the Antes home until 180&mvEagle Chapel, the first Methodist church
building in Centre County, was erected on AntestlaWhen the family sold their Bald Eagle

mill and other property and moved to Clearfield Gyun the 1820’s, Philip Antes gave the land
for the first Methodist church building in CleatfiecCounty — peopled with other Methodists who
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But this is only part of the story. The same yda Antes class was
formed on the Bald Eagle creek, the Benn-Pennindéonily of Methodists
arrived at the head of Penn’s Valley and settleal ménden Hall — not far from
State Collegé. It may be assumed that it was Coombs who alsanizgd the
famed and historic class populated by these foll&obert Pennington, long
known as the Father of Penn’s Valley Methodismctexe a log meeting house
near Centre Hall in 1814 — at which time there wals numerous Sankeys,
ancestors of the famed gospel singer Ira Sankeyhenclass. Pennington’s
Church no longer stands, although the logs wereovenh to erect a house still
standing in Centre Hall, but the site and remairbngying ground are identified
by appropriate markers.

How did the adventuresome young David Coombs happdind these
two families so recently settled, so far into tleeply wooded interior, and so far
from the routes of his predecessors? It is thigewis suggestion that Asbury
must have learned that the Benns and Penningfomst, &lso the Antes, had gone
into this sparsely settled territory and told tlrewdt rider to look them up. This
would have been characteristic of Asbury’s methods.

In 1788 preacher on trial David Coombs is appairite “Cumberland” —
and with this appointment recorded his name negainaappears in the minutes.
He was never admitted into full membership, expeleE discontinued. He was
never listed among the disabled or dead. Whatdragpto him? What was his
fate? The lack of documentation may be attribtitetthe great distances and poor
communications of the day. It now appears thatiGerland” was the Kentucky
territory toward which many were then migratingdahat young David Coombs
was killed by Indians en route to his assignnfent.

came about the same time from Bald Eagle Valleg,they called their new church “Centre” after
the land they had just left. This was the reallraothurch of Clearfield County.

" They were from Acquimimack Hundred DE and werelljkconverts of Francis Asbury. Robert
Pennington and his wife Rebecca Benn were bothertew in Delaware in 1776. Rebecca Benn
was the daughter of Henry Benn Sr, who with hisldenry Benn Jr and their families arrived in
Centre County about 1787. A Benn family traditgays that the elder Benns were Jewish people
converted under Asbury and now resettling in a sate. The same tradition says they organized
a Methodist class the same year they arrived, wivimhld mean that the Antes and Benn classes
were organized the same year — probably by the saweling preacher, and probably on the
same trip through the region. While Coombs’ instemtality in establishing the Antes class is
well-documented, his similar involvement with ther® class is by inference. We do know that
both classes were well-established when Colbereted Northumberland Circuit in 1792. By
1800, the Benn family had migrated to Venango Cp&# and were as active in establishing
Methodism there as here. Five Benns became Methpiiachers in western Pennsylvania, and
Dr. Rachel Benn of the same family was one of itst Methodist medical missionaries to China.
When the Benns moved on, the Penningtons assuraéeriip of the class.

8 Jacob Payton, on page 113 of his book Our Fataee Hold Usrelates the following story in
connection with the founding of Fell’'s Church instern Pennsylvania: “On a certain Sunday of
that year [1788] a congregation gathered at theehofMrs. Casner, where the town of Donora
now stands, to hear David Coombs who was on histav#entucky. In the congregation were
Benjamin Fell and his son John. The latter waszath#o discover in the preacher an old friend
whom he had last met at an Eastern ball. The @&angis friend, the sermon, with the blessing
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Year by Year Developments

This paper continues with a year-by-year desaipbf the progress of
Methodism within the bounds of our conference fribwa time of Asbury’s 1789
first episcopal visit [since becoming bishop in 4]8ntil his death in 1816.

1789 In 1789 Bishop Asbury passed through our territonyhis way to the
West. It was July, and the heat and labor of harwe® were enervating to both
preachers and people. Passing through Columblayrxcame to York “but felt
no desire to preach.” He proceeded to Carlisle @meéched in the Episcopal
Church in the morning, but he was denied the @gelin the evening because he
did not read the prayers. He then went to thethouse “and called them to
repentance.” The next day he and Richard Whatbaatraveling companion for
this trip, started the arduous journey across thantains. While it's not possible
to determine their exact route, Asbury recordslfineaching the Juniata River
after “we were well nigh being lost in the woodsThey spent the night with
“I.C.” — possibly near Huntingdon at Israel Cryderthe son of Michael Cryder.
Traveling down the Raystown Branch, they “yieldedtite persuasion of some
who desired us to stay and preach” nine miles fBedford. From Bedford they
traveled the Forbes Road, the present US-30. Whs Asbury’s first trip west
using a northern all-Pennsylvania route — as previtaps followed the Potomac
River and Braddock’s Road, the present US-40. his $ense, 1789 marks the
official commitment of Methodism to the interiorld$é of Central Pennsylvania.

1790 New settlers were now erecting their log cabind astablishing their
homes all through the central part of Penn’s Woo@aming in canoes up the
rivers and streams, or traveling the horse pattmuth the valleys and over the
mountains, they pushed back the wilderness. Tiaeitiriders followed them
with the Gospel, for Methodist polity dictated tliag¢ preachers should go where
the people were.

Into the Half Moon Valley in Centre County, Pe@ray and his family
had come from Maryland. His humble log house beranpreaching appoint-
ment, and a lodging place for the itinerants in ¢lagliest years of Huntingdon
circuit. The preachers were cordially welcomedwioatever the Grays could
share, even after fire had destroyed their possessind the family had to sleep
on straw on the floor until they could again haeeldieads made. Gray’s Church
is the outgrowth of the first class formed herel#®0. The Gray family hospi-
tality provided the church’s “first nursing home’hen Bishop McKendree was

of the Holy Spirit, soon resulted in John Fell’'siwgersion. At the invitation of Benjamin Fell,
David Coombs crossed the river and preached tma Bongregation at the Fell homestead. A
few days later near Wheeling, Coombs was murdeyetidIndians. His untimely death, so soon
after he had preached to them, made a deep impnegson the congregation [and they eventually
organized and erected a church building]. Frontig=€hurch, the old Methodist hive from which
have swarmed so many religious workers, went Jafirirfo the itinerancy.”
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the distinguished and welcomed visitor. On his wa$813 from conducting the

Genesee Conference, and traveling toward the Sputhay of Huntingdon and

the Juniata Valley, the Bishop’s horse threw hird kis leg was broken. He was
taken to the Gray home, and there he recuperatet time family’s care for some
weeks. Before he left he preached several tinres ganerally repaid the family
by the blessings he bestowed on them.

In other parts of Huntingdon circuit, substantiahtes were opened and
classes formed which were destined to have longfantful existences. John
Rowen was the circuit preacher, and one of thosgekavas that of Isaac Thomp-
son near Burnt Cabins. Isaac Thompson was bo@hester County in 1762,
moved to Burnt Cabins in 1786, and said, “In Mat@91 | was converted under
John Rowen’s sermon — the first ever preached irhouse. | obtained sanctifi-
cation in 1803.” For 40 years he was the leadeor@d and some-times two
classes. For 44 years he was a steward, and foredds he was recording
steward. Francis Asbury at least once acceptethdspitality. At his own ex-
pense he erected the first church building neanBGabins, the predecessor of
the one built in the village in 1851. When he died 843, having no children, he
willed half of his estate to the Missionary Societiythe M.E. Church and the
other half to the Preacher’s Aid Society of thetlBabre Conference.

Other Huntingdon circuit successes about this timkide the erection of
the chapel later referred to by Asbury at Threeirfg§gr and the beginning of
regular preaching in Wells Valley. This was alsbew the Widneys, from
Ireland, arrived in Concord and began holding sewiheré.

The first class was formed in Shippensburg in 1798is was one of the
early and substantial points on the Little York alater, Carlisle circuit.

It was also in 1790 that Richard Parriott, one led preachers on Little
York circuit, did what Robert Ayres from Bath circuid when he laid out
Huntingdon circuit two years earlier — he went ilNorthumberland County and
hewed out a circuit in a vast territory that nowbeates ten counties. He
preached at Northumberland, Lycoming Creek (Wilkport), Buffalo Valley,
Penn’s Valley, Bald Eagle Valley, and the North iBifa and West Branch of the
Susquehanna — and reported 180 Methodists thetele ¥me of the classes had
been formed prior to this time (Bald Eagle Vall®enn’s Valley, and probably
Northumberland), Parriott organized ones at Lycanr@reek and elsewhere and
forged the work into a viable circuit.

1791 This year Richard Parriott and Lewis Browning wegpointed to the
newly created Northumberland circuit, where theyol®d with much success.
This was also the year that William Colbert, whdsernal is one of our major
resources, was junior preach on Harford circuihe- horthern portion of which

° For a thorough treatment of the Concord circuit/uding the Thompson log church near Burnt
Cabins and 17 other pioneer appointments, refdrearticle “History of Concord Circuit” in the
1997 volume ofrhe Chronicle—ed.
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touched the southern portion of Little York circuitYork County. He preached
regularly at four Pennsylvania appointments whiakehpeculiar significance for
us: Allen’s, Manifold’s, Ewing’s and Low’s meetirigpuse. His Journal for 1791
includes the following:

e Friday, May 27 — preached at Thomas Allen’s. [ldiscthem “Presbyterian
friends” who lived near Gatchelville.] Went fronllén’s to Low’s meeting

house and preached there on Sunday. [Low’s wagwdar Sunday appointment
by this time.]

e Friday, June 24 — at Allen’s and met 3 new pralveis, newly converted —
namely, Edward Manifold, Alexander Ewing, and histber James Ewing.

Edward Manifold was later listed as a class leadl@rospect, which is the
name of the Gatchelville church. According to tlmrnal of Nathaniel Mills,
who first mentions Prospect meeting house, it wasted about 1810. The
Manifolds settled near Gatchelville in 1741 andh@lgh they were of Presby-
terian background, some of them became Methodists.

Colbert pays tribute to Alexander Ewing as a mhormusual intelligence
and common good sense in religious discussionsen éefore his conversion.
History confirms Colbert’s judgment, for he becaankeader in the church and a
local preacher. From the vantage point of 1968 ceue view something of the
amazing records of churchmanship of Alexander Ewidgscendants. For from
the time he became a local preacher at Gatchetailtbis modern day, members
of his family have been in uninterrupted successidhe Methodist ministry.

e James Ewing, the son of Alexander Ewing, was ddthito the Baltimore
Conference in 1809 and served for 52 years. Hddadsons who were Metho-
dist preachers: John Wesley Ewing D.D., Alexandi®ings Ewing, James
Harvey Ewing, and Henry Whitefield Ewing. The dhatey of Dr. J.W. Ewing

became the mother of Robert Knupp Esq, who is ntlyday leader of the
Central Pennsylvania Conference.

e Jane Ewing, daughter of Rev. James Ewing, marhethony Witman and

became the grandmother of Rev. Harold Ewing Witnaad Rev. Edwin H.

Witman. Frank Witman, son of Rev. E.H. Witmann@wv a ministerial member
of the California-Nevada Conference.

e Alexander Ewing was also the father of two daughteho married brothers
James and Tobias Reily, both of them having bestopaat Gatchelville. And
the succession of Reilys in the Methodist itineyams truly magnificent and
significant. Rev. James Reily was the father of.Rlames McKendree Reily,
who was the father of Rev. William McKinley Reilwho was the father of
another Rev. J. McKendree Reily and of Alice Reilythe wife of Rev. L.L.

Owens. And Rev. J. McKendree Reily was the fatiidev. William Reily, now

a member of the Ohio Conference. That's 5 suceed$’eilys in a direct line. In
addition, Tobias Reily was the father of Rev. AReily.

There is no other family within our bounds with kuclong succession of
ministerial leadership, to say nothing of the legdiaymen in the same success-
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sion. We have two families that have sent fivetliecs into the ministry, and a
number of sets of three — but nowhere else domekeduch a ministerial lineage.

1792 For the first time Wyoming and Tioga circuits appea appointments —
and major portions of both of these original citsuare now in the bounds of
Central Pennsylvania. These records indicate iteeregular preaching at such
places as Towanda and Burlington.

Classes were also formed this year at Williamslaung at Carlisle, where
a meeting house was erected.

This year William Colbert records the fact thathedd services on North-
umberland circuit at 39 or 40 places — almost &lhem private homes, except
for a meeting house in Northumberland. While reerdit always follow the same
route, it helps to envision a big loop from Northeriand to Berwick to Milton
to Williamsport to Milesburg to Potters Mills to Wwesburg and back to North-
umberland — with variations that involved a Mifflluniata return from Potters
Mills, and a Shamokin Valley return from Berwickhd following preaching
places can be identified from Colbert’s Journal:

Main L oop

e Northumberland — an organized class, and a mebtinge.

e William Cox’s and John Egbert's — Mahoning (nowbdle).

e Joseph Ogden’s — on Fishing Creek (near Bloom$buifithe Ogden family

were Quakers. Colbert preached here, but formedass.

e Henry and Peter Melich’s — Espy.

e |saac Holloway’'s — Berwick. Holloway was the fisshool teacher in Berwick,
and Colbert often stopped to talk (or argue) rehgwith him. Mrs. Holloway

was the daughter of Amos Park of Salem townshihurperne County, whose
home was a Wyoming Conference preaching place.loWal was a notorious
backslider. The class which Colbert organized hbeesfollowing year did not

hold together, and Colbert seems to imply that ¢Vedly’'s example had some-
thing to do with the collapse.

e Christian Bowman'’s — Briar Creek.

e Joseph Salmon’s — on the west branch of BriarlCr@ée Salmon family were
Presbyterians. Colbert preached here, but formezlass.

e William Pegg’s — near Jerseytown. The Pegg famire Presbyterians.
Colbert preached here, but formed no class.

e William Search — near Milton.

e Milltown (Milton)

e |saac Bears — White Deer Valley.

e John and Caleb Farley’'s — White Deer Hole Vallaffehwood). The Farleys

were from Hunterdon County NJ, and Asbury preadsd stayed in their home
there before they moved to Pennsylvania and buitilewhere Allenwood now

stands. Caleb lived on White Deer mountain, wherehewed out a farm. Al-
though not prosperous, he was prominent in Methativities and served as
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class leader for many years. Many of his descdsdaere active members in all
three former branches of the United Methodist Churc

e Peter Hasting’s — Black Hole Valley, between Muacygl Montgomery.

e Joshua White’'s — near Muncy. White was from Nensdy and was a local
preacher in whose home the first quarterly meedingd communion service were
held in the Muncy section of Northumberland circulthese meetings, it must be
remembered, were for the entire circuit — and thescleaders and local preachers
from as far east as present day Beach Haven afat agest as Milesburg and
Boalsburg were expected to attend. Those fronstamite sometimes traveled for
two days each way for the two days of the meetingigation — being
“entertained” in small log cabins near the placetref meeting, or sleeping in
barns which were turned into temporary barracksie Tollowing year, 1793,
Joshua White died and his son Alward White was menended for the
itinerancy. The first known ministerial recruibfn Northumberland circuit, he
served for 39 years.

e Joseph Hall's — Hall’'s Station, near Muncy. ThallHamily were Presby-
terians. Colbert preached here, but formed nesclas

e Peter Conkle’s — Loyalsock township.

e Jeremiah Tallman’s — Loyalsock township, now Vaittisport.

e Amariah Sutton’s — Lycoming Creek, now within Walnsport. Sutton was the
first white settler on land now within the city W¥illiamsport, and it was in his
home that the first class here was formed. Altimolig had earlier given land for
church purposes, he was converted in the first imgételd by Parriott in his
home in 1790. It is quite probable that his soadirin whose home Amariah
spent his declining years, came home from the Rioolary War a Methodist —
and thus may have been the very first Williamspéethodist.

e Richard Manning’s — Jersey Shore.

e Martin Reese’s — Pine Creek, west of Jersey ShGabert speaks specifically
of the natural beauty of Pine Creek Valley. Reaser moved west, became a
prosperous lumberman, and has been called “thedé&unf the Warren PA
Methodist Church.”

e Widow Baird’s — Liberty, east of Lock Haven. Mmllliam Baird welcomed
Colbert, and soon a class was formed in this hor@®me of her sons married
Frances Siggins, fresh from Ireland with her parentwho are said to have
entertained Wesley in their home and to have hbéardon several occasions.
Two grandsons of Mrs. Baird became Methodist preech- one of them,
William Baird, casting his lot with southern Methsh, where he was then
serving, and becoming editor ®he Episcopal Methodisif the M.E. Church,
South. Other descendents migrated to western RPegansga and were active
Methodists there. The Baird family has always bpsminent in leadership in
the little Liberty Church along the river.

e John and Ananias McFadden’s — Dunnsburg (Dunngtowirhe McFaddens
later migrated west and were leaders in foundingrs¢ churches in Venango
County PA.
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e Philip Antes — Bald Eagle Valley (Curtin). Antmssconsidered the founder of
Methodism in Bald Eagle Valley, and he was the dasfahe land for the first
Methodist church in Clearfield County.

e Henry Benn’s — Penn’s Valley, Centre County.

e Potter's — Potter's Mills. The Potter family weRyesbyterians. Colbert
preached here, but no class was formed.

e Brush Valley, Centre County.

e William and Edward Crawford’s — Hartleton. Unioio@ty.

e Barber’s school house — White Springs, Union Cpunt

e Michael Lincoln’s — near Mifflinburg. Michael Looln and Benjamin
Thompson were originally supporters, if not mempefdhe Buffalo Cross Roads
Presbyterian Church. They became the foundersiffifidurg Methodism.

e John and Benjamin Thompson’s — Buffalo Valley, @miCounty. By 1801
Benjamin Thompson was “banker” (treasurer) of Nemberland circuit.

e Thomas Reese’s — Lewisburg.

Mifflin-Juniata variation

e Henry Collins — Kishacoquillas Valley.

e Henry Moore’s — near Mifflintown. Colbert refeis “Moore’s meeting house”
and says that it was really on his (i.e., Northuria@rel) circuit — when he got this
far. Much speculation has been given to the looatind identification of this
structure. While one historian thinks that Mooeal factually erected a log chapel
on his farm for the use of the Methodists, this wasdly the case — since the
nearby Presbyterian Cedar Spring meeting housebkad erected before the
Revolutionary War for the use of all who desirechtdd religious services. That
the Methodists had used it quite early seems app&i@m Fithian's experience
on his 1775 mission journey. He says that whegdt¢o Cedar Springs the local
song leader did not want to lead the singing uméil had properly identified
himself as a bona fide Presbyterian minister. Mam explained that he “did not
know whether he was an Anglican, a Seceder, a Meth@r what.” This church
stood midway between Mifflintown and Mexico, andc® there is no record of
any other Methodists near here at this time it seanlikely that Moore would
build a chapel in the hope that there soon woulddrae. After Moore died in
1796, Methodism had no presence in the area foy ryaars.

e Samuel Osborne’s — Turkey Valley, Juniata CourByshop Roberts mentions
Turkey Valley as one of the appointments on Carl@tcuit when he began his
ministry there in 1802, and Osborne was listedres af the leading Stewards of
Carlisle circuit for some years. He was the faihdaw of Morris Howe, an
influential pioneer circuit preacher. Morris’ sadesley Howe was one of the
original members when the Central Pennsylvania €ente was formed in 1869
— but he died that same year, having itinerate@7oyears.

e Patterson’s — near Seven Stars, Juniata County.

Shamokin Valley variation

e Hughes’ — Catawissa. The Hughes family were QusakeColbert preached
here, but formed no class.
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e Wilkerson’'s — Shamokin Valley, between Elysburgl @nydertown. This
family contributed influential leadership in therlgadays of their formation to the
Irish Valley Methodists, the Shamokin Valley Pregoans, and the Shamokin
Valley Baptists. Colbert mentions that he detecenhe Calvinistic leanings in
the home, and his observation seems to have bdefourded.

e Jacob Depew's — near Klinesgrove. Colbert hadaal hime resting here
because of the crying of the babies and the ndisigecother children. Although
he refers to them as “the good Depews,” Colbeer ladtreated from their home to
overnight at the quieter residence of David Dasidocal preacher in Sunbury.
Depew was married to the oldest daughter of Jacedri@rt, who settled where
Riverside is now on land he was granted for higiseras a captain in the Revolu-
tionary War. In 1813 Asbury stayed the night ie titome of Jacob Gearhart Jr,
who always called himself a “convert of Asbury’s.In 1829 a log building
known was Gearhart's church was erected in the\tnon cemetery west of
Riverside. For many years, Danville Methodistssseal the river to worship here
before a church building was erected there.

e Sunbury — Services here were held in the old $atese, which was actually a
jail in which sessions of the court were sometiinelsl before the erection of the
log courthouse in 1796.

Services were held at the above named preachaugpwith some regu-
larity — in most cases the two appointed preacfutieved each other every two
weeks. The classes at Northumberland, Benn’s im’'Bé/alley, Antes’ in Bald
Eagle Valley, Sutton’s at Lycoming Creek (presentlig¥hsport), and probably
at John and Caleb Farley’'s at White Deer Hole Cipe&sent Allenwood) had
been formed by Richard Parriott in 1790 while theitory was still part of Little
York circuit.

Appointed in mid-year to Tioga circuit by the bighd&olbert spent a few
uncomfortable and unsatisfactory months there.July, Asbury had written to
Thomas Morell that he thought he ought to “appareachers all through the
year” — i.e., he would change preachers betweereamce sessions when it
seemed appropriate. This is what happened to @plkwed his journal speaks
specifically of the hardships and discomforts henfib in some of the primitive
pioneer cabins — although he was treated hospit@bgome others. Lines be-
tween circuits, districts and conferences were vaoy clearly defined in these
early days — but the line between Northumberlandl Bioga circuits ran some-
where between Bloomsburg and Wilkes Barre. Ther ye&olbert lists the home
of Amos Park’ in Luzerne County on Tioga circuit; later the emtBerwick
section, including Briar Creek meeting house aredBlbbwman’s and everything
to the east, were in Wyoming Conference.

19 Amos Park was from Connecticut, and he may haee beMethodist when he came here. Land
dealings between him and Nathan Beach indicatebtthtlived near present Beach Haven.
Several memorable quarterly meetings were heldeaPtirk home, which was a hospitable
dwelling.
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Colbert was really hewing out a circuit where anan, John Hill, had
served alone for only a few months. He traveledhe North Branch beyond
Wilkes Barre and through territory which is now\Wyoming Conference. He
covered all of what is now Bradford County, parffTadga County, and Chemung
area of New York to Newtown (now Elmira) and thex&za Lake region.

Colbert’s first impression of Tioga circuit was ambrable. Above Nanti-
coke he had a dreary and difficult time and foundcltean place to stay. After
getting out of the Narrows, he started the day t@akfasting on a frozen turnip.
The next night, December 5, he slept on the floitih wther people in a tavern at
Teague’s Hill. At Meshoppen on December 6 he goldycorn for his horse,
but he himself would not eat in such a filthy placéhat evening he arrived at
Gideon Baldwin’s (his first regular preaching plpoa Wyalusing Creek and got
something to eat — the first for that entire dayra¥eling.

At Rice’s in Shufelt’s Flats, present day Asylume,found “the first class |
have met on the circuit.” Here he was pressed wpaonake some pastoral calls,
although he observed that visiting was to him apleasant necessity. The pio-
neer itinerants had little time to make pastordiscand they very much preferred
to ride and preach the Gospel.

Since we are interested primarily in the secobmhe old Tioga circuit
which is now a part of our Conference, allow megltwss over Colbert’s route into
New York during the last weeks of 1792 and mentofew of the people he
encountered on his return trip.

1793 At Old Sheshequin, or Ulster, Colbert preachedCaptain Benjamin
Clark’'s on January 9. Here was a class which edigor some years until
William Clarke, the class leader, moved west arel ¢dtass was disbanded for
several years — but it was newly re-organized atk8a@#¢ and has had continuous
existence since then. One convert at Ulster whzane a most distinguished
leader in Methodism was Henry B. Bascom — who becBmhop Bascom of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, South, and in his dag woted as one of the most
eloquent preachers in Amerith.

1 oring Grant served Tioga circuit in 1808 and 180@ related this incident: “At Old Sheshe-
quin | preached at the house of Captain Clark. émane occasion there was a lad of about 16 by
the name of H.B. Bascom who came to hear me praeaihwept much during the sermon. In

class meeting he professed conversion, and heddiveechurch as a probationer. But it was not
until the General Conference of 1828 at Pittsbuihgh | knew that the green boy | took into the
church at Captain Clark’s was a man of world-widgudarity.” It was said that the future bishop
walked barefoot from his home in the woods aboeeNbw York state line to be taken into the
Church. His family later migrated to the Southd &me young man was admitted into the Ken-
tucky Conference — where he immediately became krfowhis magnificent appearance and his
marvelous eloquence. He taught in two collegélpabh he never attended one. His genius as a
debater on the floors of annual and General Conéa®was early acknowledged, and he was a
leader of the southern dissidents who led the mewiior the division of the church in 1844. At
the 1850 General Conference of the ME Church, Sdgthwvas elected bishop — but he died
suddenly within a few months of his election.
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Another important stopping and preaching placelmga circuit was at
“old Mr. Cole’s” at a settlement called Macedomaar Monroeton. Here Colbert
faced a personality problem, for he “found thematitsd in their minds. Old
man Cole desired to have his name taken off th&sdlall. His daughter Molly
had been affronted because her name had not béem fay the leader.” Later
Colbert reveals that Mr. Cole had been influencedhle Universalists who were
active in that area — and still are to this dayut Bhe Cole family is notable in
Methodist annals because this was the parental lodraésha Cole, who entered
the traveling ministry in 1794 and served two ydse®re locating and becoming
the “Father of Bradford County Methodism.” His sed itinerant year was
served on Milford circuit, Delaware, with Williamadbert as senior preacher.
Colbert spoke of this association in his journalFebruary 25, 1804, when he
was presiding elder on Seneca District — of whighg@ was one of the 11 circuits
he supervised. He stayed several days with Eliabla in a farewell visit upon
leaving the district? Without doubt the name of Elisha Cole, respelgtfee-
ferred to as “Father Cole,” is associated with mooal churches in the Towanda
and upper Loyalsock section of old Tioga circuartrany other one person. He
was abundant in his labors for the Lord and Metsiodiand local church histories
associate him with their origins with gratitude.

Colbert’s remuneration was very meager. On M&tHh when he was
trying to close his tour of duty, he writes from ¥ysing: “Four weeks ago |
spoke to them of a public collection to be takewnout nobody said anything, so
| came off without anything.” On leaving Tiogaaiit, Colbert and Ware took
passage for the return trip down the river. Thatneng they stopped at a cabin
where they could not even get straw to sleep orareVglept on a chest with a
bunch of tow for a pillow, and Colbert got a baghafy out of the boat. Such
were their accommodations.

12 This was not the only occasion Colbert servedresiging elder over a district that included
Tioga circuit and had contact with his friend EisBole. In 1802 Colbert was presiding elder of
Albany District, of which Tioga was one of the ciits. On July 30 he came to the house of his
old colleague Elisha Cole and observed: “I do mmivk that the Susquehanna has improved any
from the time | came on in ’92, except in the road3dn Saturday the 3’ together with circuit
preachers Osborne and Booth, he held a quartedyimge“at Tabor’s barn in town.” On Sunday
August ', he baptized Benjamin Aiken, his wife, and sevehdlidren of other parents. He then
went on to Captain Clark’s at Ulster. In 1803 Gotthad the Genesee District, of which Tioga
was then a part, and he spend the first of Noverbdris old circuit. He returned on February
24, 1804, and arrived at Joseph Ballard’s on SGgeek — near where the old Burlington meeting
house stood, and where the 1822 one still stamtie.quarterly meeting that year began at Sugar
Creek meeting house on Saturday, and as usudlthedrmon was preached by Elisha Cole.
Colbert preached, conducted the business, antiéedave Feast. He writes of his disappoint-
ment in Samuel Budd, one of the three circuit pgnees, who married and deserted the cause. He
stayed at Joseph Ballard’s on this, his last gdgneeeting in the Genesee District. By special
request he preached a farewell sermon at “Lawrehog Saturday. Monday he stayed with
Elisha Cole, and Tuesday he preached at SamuekCatal had more hearers than | expected.”
On leaving Cole’s on March™Lhe stopped at Hollenbeck’s tavern, Wyalusing iagon Alden’s
at Meshoppen.
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Landing at Wilkes Barre, Colbert wrote in his joairfior April 16, 1793:

“I have been 4 months and 8 days on Tioga circoihe- of the most disagreeable
places for travel | ever was in, among a refracsamt of people. | lived hard and
labored hard, but | fear | did little good. | jeih but 3 to the Society while | was
there, but | think there is a prospect of good galone. May the labors of my
successors be blest more than mine were.”

In June 1793, while Colbert was now deployed to Wy circuit,
Francis Asbury made a memorable trip across oufecence territory. Coming
from Maryland, he entered Pennsylvania north oft@ith — a once prominent
village on the C&0O Canal between Hancock and Cutabdr He stopped at
Fidler's — the parents of Daniel Fidler, a travglipreacher since 1789. He
arrived at Fort Littleton on Saturday, Jund'@avhere he exhorted a troubled
widow to pray and then “collected the little pensid society” to preach to them.
Coming north on the Tuscarora Indian Path, he edb#ise Juniata to Mifflintown
and came to Henry Moore’s.

By Thursday, June 37 Asbury arrived at Penns’ Creek, where he spent
the night — quite likely at the tavern of Georgeb@el, which was at the northern
edge of what is now the town of Selinsgrove. HRridzorning they left Selins-
grove and went to Northumberland to breakfast.is'la little chapel, that serves
as a school house, belonging to the Methodists. hde a few kind respectable
friends whose circumstances are comfortabld. gave them a sermon on John
14:6, and in the afternoon paid a visit to Sunbuffe people here are almost all
Dutch [German]. | was enabled to speak alarmingd&on Acts 4:12.”

It was on this visit that Asbury first expressed boncern for the Pennsyl-
vania Germans. Writing on July 3 to Thomas Moyrédlsbury says “to let
Valentine CooK’, upon Clarksburg circuit, know to come and meet an¢he

3 The “respectable friends” at Northumberland tomeiided the Taggarts (at whose public house
Asbury stayed while there), the Bonhams, and prigtiaaniel Montgomery — all of them coming
from Philadelphia to settle in this interior towMontgomery had been a trustee of old St.
George’s in Philadelphia even prior to Asbury’s\akin America — and while he first settled at
Danville, which was so named for his nephew andesake, he later lived at Northumberland and
was well known for his paintings. The “little chedp.belonging to the Methodists,” however, is
not so clear. If this society owned a chapel,aswertainly the first on the old Northumberland
circuit — although neither church nor civil recordake mention of it. But since Colbert in

addition to Asbury spoke of a chapel at Northurdogdt| there certainly was a building used for
Methodist services and for school purposes — aaddbpectable friends alluded to did own con-
siderable property. What kind of building this pehwas is conjectural. The Taggart tavern
stood on Queen street, on lot #176 of the origimah plot. Among the other properties owned

by the Methodists as individuails 1793 was one assessed with “an unfinished Harmskanother
with a store building. An unfinished house woutdlixe many a new chapel in regular use at this
time — without a wooden floor or doors or windowsacstove, yet a better place for meeting by far
than a tavern with guests coming and going (oristetyp make a ruckus). So it seems a strong
possibility that this Bonham property was the léitthapel...belonging to the Methodists.”

14 valentine Cook, born in Virginia in 1765, was arfehe best educated of the pioneer preachers.
After a common English education, he “became salif@amvith the German language as to be
able to read, write and speak the language witb.edde had spent some time as a student at
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Baltimore conference, October 20. | have foundist body of Dutch on North-
umberland circuit, and the said Cook can preacbutch. Had | known it at
conference, | would have stationed him here. iebelthere are several young
men who will do as well on Clarksburg as he.” Someeuse Asbury of being
unconcerned about the Pennsylvania German peapidyid frequent references
bespeak his concern for his “poor German childrertfe had only 3 or 4
preachers who could preach in German — others bé&aupb Gruber, Peter
Beaver, and Henry Boehm. In 1794, Cook was madsiging elder over
Northumberland, Wyoming, Philadelphia, LancasteistBl and Chester circuits.

Colbert’'s Journal must now fill in what Asbury dted (or deleted) in his
edited journal about this trip. Colbert says omd@&y morning he met the bishop
“upstairs at the widow Taggart's on Queen Street! seemed surprised and
pleased at Asbury’s friendliness to him: “He spt&eme in a way | was never
spoken to by him before; he was very agreeabld.’L1A0’clock Asbury preached
in the meeting house, and in the afternoon at SynbAt night John Hill (the
appointed preacher in charge of Tioga circuit gfestr) preached in Northumber-
land and Colbert “rejoiced seeing four preachetsis part of the world.”

On Monday, July %, Asbury and Hill and Colbert set out to Joseph
Ogden’s on Fishing Creek — probably between pregapnBloomsburg and Light
Street, near the site of old Fort Wheeler. Herbukg preached at night, and both
Hill and Colbert exhorted the people.

Leaving Odgen’s on Tuesday, Jul{’2he “prayed with our good old
Mother Salmon” who lived on the west branch of BGaeek, on the way from
present Light Street towards Berwick — not far framere the Bowman family
would settle that year. The preachers went onetavigk, “where Bishop Asbury
preached to a considerable congregation at Isadlowdy’s, considering the
notice the people had.” The appointment must Hmeen for mid-day, or early
afternoon, as they proceeded on to Captain Parfsiuse at Ross’s Hill in the
Wyoming Valley.

Colbert made several rounds in the area in 1788,he mentions new
preaching places — one at Daniel Sunderland’s oité/Nreer Creek near present
Elimsport, and another at Coleburn’s in Morelandgrtship near Opp’s. He also
stopped “a little above Milton” at Marr’s and préad in the new stone house that
Mr. Marr, the founder of the Episcopal Church attdhi, had just built. He bap-
tized two children of Moses VanCampen, the celeordhdian scout and Revo-
lutionary War hero who lived between Berwick andgant day Bloomsburg.

Cokesbury College. He became a brilliant and fotlgereacher and debater, publicly defending
Methodism’s theology and polity with noted adversain various places. His biographer states
that it was he who introduced the “custom of callamxious ones to the altar to be instructed and
prayed for. Previously, penitents knelt wheramehe congregation they happened to be when
they were seized with conviction.” Cook’s preachat quarterly meetings on Northumberland
circuit mightily impressed both people and fellore@chers. Sometimes he preached in both
English and German to large congregations.
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1794 The minutes for this year now record Carlisle asreuit, as well as Little

York. Now there are Huntingdon, Little York, Caté and Northumberland cir-
cuits within the present bounds of this conferen@nd also parts of Bath, Har-
ford and Tioga circuits. Bath circuit included Bed and southern Bedford
County. Harford circuit included Low’s meeting sy Ewing’s and Manifold’s

(soon to become Prospect meeting house at Gattdglviall in southern York

County. Tioga circuit included the appointmentgpnesent Bradford and Tioga
counties. Membership reported this year was aewist Huntingdon — 194

white, 2 colored; Little York & Carlisle — 276 whit7 colored; Northumberland —
310 white, 1 colored; Tioga — 133 white.

1795 How many preaching places were included on Hudbngcircuit, now an
appointment for seven years, we do not know. [851& class as organized at
Shirleysburg, but this may have been the revival pfevious class or society de-
scribed by Presbyterian missionary Philip Fithiarlv75 [see footnote #2 —ed.].
The earlier class may have disbanded, or it may hasiuded members living
within a sizable radius — perhaps served by eadwall preacher Daniel Cryder,
who came into the Huntingdon area about two yeangee and established a mill.

1796 This year classes were in operation in Mifflinbangd Milton. The first
Methodist preaching was reported at Bloomingdald_uzerne County and at
Monroeton in Bradford County, undoubtedly at thgelaplace by Elisha Cole.

The first of the meeting houses at Old Burlingtomradford County was
erected this year — for both school and preachurggses. The romantic story of
the founding of this class on Sugar Creek is tald getold in this valley by the
descendants of the participants to this day. ®©hballlegends agree substantially
with the following narrative, taken from page 14BTde History of Bradford
County Among the first settlers on Sugar Creek in 1791ew&flliam Dobbins
and James McKean, who came from Maryland and wivbges were pious godly
women. The very evening after the first comparsetifers arrived on the creek,
these two women had a prayer meeting. This me#tagkept up for five or six
years with what help they could get — but as yeythad been visited by no
preacher. One evening a company of young folksnalsted for an evening party,
when it was proposed to hold a prayer meeting $t j@hey began, sang a hymn,
and one or two prayed. They sang another hymn aather undertook to pray.
By this time conviction took hold on some of theypand they began to pray in
earnest. Meanwhile word was sent to these pioubker® of what was going on.
When they arrived, they joined in prayer with thenipents — and before the
meeting closed, six declared they had found peadelieving. Father Cole, as
he is familiarly called, was sent for. In compamth Job Irish, he soon appeared
on the ground and held a series of meetings. Asct#d 18 members was now
formed, with Andrew McKean as leader.

This church, built in 1796 for school and religsgourposes, burned down
in 1798. Soon after this, another was built onghme site and called “the block
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house.” This stood until 1822, when the preseiiting was erected on the same
site. This frame church is two stories high wittwane glass pulpit” and galleries

on three sides. It is the only example of thiseonommon type of architecture
within the bounds of this conference and has bessigdated a conference his-
toric site. This third building was used until Z8%vhen the Burlington and West
Burlington churches were erected nearer to wheszepthople lived. An annual

service has been held in the “Old Burlington Chutai the descendants of the
original founding fathers to this day. Recentlpaly of trustees was elected to
establish a trust fund for its upkeep.

Classes were organized this year in HuntingdonGiraimbersburg.

Colbert, on a tour of Northumberland circuit tyisar, mentions for the
first time Robert Pennnington in Penn’s Valley. Had previously reported
stopping at Pennington’s wife’s father's home — wmeha class had been started
about 1787. Pennington succeeded his father-inHanry Benn Sr (1737-1817)
as the class leader partly because the Benns \egrening to migrate to western
Pennsylvania about this time. Robert, who becamawk as “the father of
Penn’s Valley Methodism” and his son Henry werenldeaiders in this class. The
son of Henry was John Pennington, who became a&lingvpreacher and died
from exposure before he was 30 years old. Allghest in the burying ground
which marks the site of the old Pennington log mngetouse. It is located on the
former family farm, on the Brush Valley road abaumile east of Centre Hall.
One of Robert’s daughters married a Sankey, atioein home was organized the
Sankey class — which became the Potter’s MillsSprucetown, Church. The
great gospel soloist Ira Sankey was the grandstmstouple.

Colbert also speaks of stopping at James Kinnaarhittany Valley on
this tour. Kinnear, an Irish Protestant who waiteebdfrom his homeland, came to
America and became a prominent “vendue master” ndian trader. He was
one of the first members at Old St. George’s indélelphia, and his house was
described as “the many-windowed paragon of all Bsus the vicinity of Old St.
George’s.” He was a prosperous and highly resgeotsiness man before the
Revolutionary War, and Methodism’s General Book\&iel at Philadelphi& In

!5 An October 10,1771, entry in Old St. George’s dasbk reports a collection being taken in
Kinnear's home. Methodist historian and editordrel D. Case conjectures, “Perhaps on a cold
night worshippers moved from an unheated churdtig@legant many-windowed home Kkitty-
corner from the back door of St. George’s.” Tharario seems plausible when we recall that as
yet St. George’s had no windows, no doors, andawy &xcept the earth. Recent (1958) dis-
covery by historian Ed Schell of the manuscript umés for the conferences of 1774 to 1777
brings to light the appointment by Thomas Rankisigfcircuit “book stewards,” all reputable
laymen, who were to report to a General Book StdvaalPhiladelphia — who was none other than
James Kinnear. Every preacher was “to have aaegalcount of the books in the round [circuit]
for the succeeding assistant [preacher] also t@yliie money in hand to the General Steward —
every round to be supplied with papers and tickets the Book Steward in Philadelphia.” There
is no other reference known to Kinnear as book atéw- in Rankin’s journal or anywhere else.
While no one can explain why, Case suggests thitiglthe exigencies of the War (in which St.
George’s was commandeered by the British Dragondgwaned into a riding stable) Kinnear
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1797 Colbert found James Kinnear on Logan’s BrasfdBald Eagle Creek, near
present Axemann. A century ago the oldest ressdin@re spoke of Kinnear as
“the old man who loved to walk up and down the rokdl in velvet knee britches
and silver-buckled shoes, and who always welcomed entertained every
Methodist preacher who every came near his honte”lived his last days in a
log house, part of which was still standing on Mrenn property in 188%°

1798 Huntingdon circuit was now ten years old. It unbi®dly had started
many classes and preaching places which eventuadigame established
churches. Records were not preserved for theestiiears, and local histories
are quite sketchy. This year, however, we haverdeof preaching in Trough
Creek Valley and at Petersburg. At year’'s end girees Seely Bunn and John
Philips reported 242 members, as against the 58texpten years before.

This year the first class is said to have been éafat Monroeton on Tioga
circuit — probably under the influence Elisha Ceoltp lived not far away.

Although appointed to Wyoming circuit, William Cald made a round
on the adjacent Northumberland circuit. He mayetevanged a trade with either
John Lackey or John Leach, the appointed Northulabercircuit preachers.
Whatever the reason for his traveling there, hendothe following preaching
places he had not previously listed.
eJohn Hunlock’s — Hunlock Creek.
eBlancher’s — “at the new settlement” of Huntingtaow Luzerne County.
eWilliam Brandon’s — in Salem township, east of Bty William was a local
preacher from Ireland who was admitted to the aemfee on trial in 1801 and
expelled after only 4 years — his last appointmazihg at Carlisle with Jacob
Gruber. He continued as a local preacher, howewer was useful in revivals in
the Luzerne County section of the Wyoming Valléye lived near Town Hill and
was probably a school teacher as well as a farriibere were 2 William Bran-

found it dangerous to traffic with Methodists. hkienself had aligned with the Patriots by taking
the oath of allegiance to Pennsylvania as a Stateonsequence of this he may have lost his
lucrative business as a vendue master — for in@svk that later his vendue was sold under
distress conditions. The reader may guess as &b tndatment an exiled Irishman who had
become a well-to-do Philadelphian through tradiritipwhe Indians might have received during
the War. Pennsylvania Archives records indicatenmgs of land grants to Kinnear. After the War
he may have been “land poor” and decided to livlisriand in the interior of Pennsylvania.

'8 The Kinnear family included two or more half breth whom James had brought to America
from Ireland, and some nephews and nieces. Athdeehave been Methodists, and most of them
apparently were active in Methodist affairs. Jaimes no surviving children, but his widow spent
her last days in the Weaver home between BellefantePleasant Gap. The older Mrs. Weaver
may have been one of the Kinnear nieces. The We&ztwarch is named for this family
instrumental in establishing several local churcireduding Pleasant Gap. The rest of the family
moved westward in Pennsylvania, where their nampsa frequently in Methodist annals. In
1818 William Kinnear was the leader of the firsisd in Philipsburg, and in 1825 he was a circuit
steward of Clearfield circuit — while his brothemndes was one of the first exhorters there.
Pittsburgh Conference lists of ministers contamklinnear name, and other descendants of the
Kinnears have been prominent lay leaders there.
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dons, possibly father and son, in this part of toaference that were local
preachers. It is probable that Brandon Church ent@& circuit was named for
one or both of them.

eSamuel Emmitt’s — in Frosty Valley, west of Bloomst). Colbert states that
this Irish immigrant “desired to speak in publiagicaso was given a chance. He
was later licensed as a local preacher, and onlRl$807, at a camp meeting at
Squire Light’'s on Tioga circuit, Bishop Asbury ontled him a deacon.
eSwisher’s — Black Hole Valley, in Lycoming Countgar Montgomery.

eHenry Thomas’ — on Larry’'s Creek, near to preseatryville. Henry came
from Berks County, had a large family, and was dowier. He married a widow
named Thomas who also had a large family of childr&s would be expected,
there was some confusion listing these childrennithey grew to maturity’
eHelford’s — near Antes’ on Bald Eagle Creek.

eMichael Lincoln’s — in Buffalo Valley near Mifflinbrg. A cousin of Abraham
Lincoln’s father, Michael soon became the mostvactand highly respected
leader of Mifflinburg Methodism. His “stone mansiovas erected about 1 mile
east of town, and he was one of the first two &estof the original Mifflinburg
log church. His son and daughter-in-law were tbeads of the land on which
Lincoln Chapel at Laurelton stands as a memoriahts substantial family of
Methodists.

oPhilip Stahl's — in Buffalo Valley, near Kelly CresRoads. When he died,
Philip left a fund of $100 — the interest of whialas to go to the support of
traveling preachers for at least 10 years. Fro@l1® 1811, an item of $4.00
“from Philip Stahl's Estate” appeared as an anniiglre in the quarterly
conference records.

eDavid Davis — a local preacher in Sunbury. Undedlyt the first Methodist in
Sunbury, he moved there in 1793 to take up the mbker’s trade. Often
expressing annoyance with the noisy children indaleins in which he lodged,
Colbert twice left “the good Depews” near Klinesggao lodge in comparative
quiet with David Davis. He later moved to south@wiumbia County, where in
1850 his descendants erected Davis Chapel of taadgglical (later EUB) Church
and contributed a family of 4 brothers to the ntiyi®f that denomination.

Y There were, for example, two step-brothers naméd Thomas — one a traveling preacher and
the other a local preacher. John Thomas (son ef Menry Thomas) was a blacksmith and called
“Iron John Thomas” to distinguish him from his steq@ther. John Thomas (son of Henry) and
his step-brother George Thomas (son of Mrs. Heigrnias) both joined the Baltimore
Conference in 1807. Before entering the itineradoyn conducted services in Lycoming County
as early as 1805. Although in the effective relafior only about 20 years, he was abundant in
labors ministerial as a superannuate near Willimmispand when he passed away he had been in
the conference for 60 years. George's lot fethim Genesee Conference when it organized in
1810. He served there 4 years, for a total ofafs/@ the ministry, before returning to his home
and serving on Salladasburg circuit as a localgirea Throughout the years, other members of
this large family have been leaders and membeisilsalladasburg area.

27



e Sunbury school house — on Arch Street, on thedgt adjacent to that on which
Sunbury’s first Methodist church was erected in@3

eShrontz’s — in Shamokin Valley, east of Sunbury.

eRogers’ — near Catawissa, on Roaring Creek.

1799 Six years elapsed since Bishop Asbury appearddidasur conference
territory, and this year his visit was brief. Oat@day August 8, Seely Bunn
met Asbury at Drinnon’s in Columbia — across thverifrom Wrightsville. Bunn
was the preacher in charge of Carlisle circuit,chfthen included York — where
they ministered the next day, but Bunn was indutegreach while Asbury
exhorted. Monday they continued their travelingl astopped at Littlestown,
where they dined. After that they went into Manda

This year the few members at Chambersburg erdbigd first church
building.

In the northeastern part of the conference, twouids were united for
more effective ministry. Last year Wyoming circpiteacher William Colbert
made one round on Northumberland circuit. Appdyetiitis proved agreeable
and effectual, for those two circuits were placegether in the appointment list
with three preachers for this and one subsequemt ye

1800 It is now sixteen years since the Methodist EpstoChurch was
organized in Baltimore at the Christmas Conferenicel784 there were already
about 15,000 members in the societies, and 83 Ipeesic At the organizing
conference, 20 of the preachers were ordainedse{deaddition to Asbury) and 4
of them were ordained deacons. The elders werenpehiarge of a few circuits
each, but there were no organized districts as.such

Now in 1800 there were 51,442 white members ang@l5P3 colored
members in the societies, and 287 preachers. ydas Thomas Coke, Francis
Asbury and Richard Whatcoat were elected by the e@nConference to
superintend the Methodist Episcopal Church in AogeriThe work had expanded
geographically to virtually all settled portions thfe country — from Georgia to
Maine on the Atlantic coast, and westward into@eo Valley.

For the convenience of the preachers, there warensconferences set up
for this year. In Addition to the General Confezerwhich met in Baltimore in
May, meetings were scheduled for Charleston SCfddoNA, Dunworth near

18 How often the school house was used for preackengices is not known, but a few decades
ago the older members of St. John’s could recatlttine first Sunday School sessions were held in
this little building. Always called “the little $ool house,” it was likely the first building erect

in Sunbury as a private school and presumably stoe for use of the Methodist Sunday School
as long as the Methodist church remained at theat $h 1869 the Roman Catholics bought the
church building from the Methodists when the latteved to the present site of St. John'’s
Church. About the turn of the century, the Cattolnhoved and sold their church building to the
Jewish community to be transformed into a Jewigipte. There may not be another site in the
country which has been used by the three majdi<ait the above order.
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Holston TN, Stone Chapel near Baltimore MD, Ducleé&k DE, New York NY,
Lynn MA. Even with this arrangement, most had laligfances over poor roads
or horse paths to get to a conference.

It was not unusual for a preacher to require akweeeven two, to ride to
conference — and the same amount of time goingstonéw appointment. He
took it for granted that he would not be re-appsiinto the same circuit in those
days, so he took all his possessions with himsrshddlebags to conference to be
prepared to “go where he was sent.” Everythingsiered, the preacher on a
typical four-week circuit would appear at each appment only about 8 or 10
times a year. On the occasions when the preaciéa oot be there, class leaders
or local preachers took over the services.

Whereas in 1784 there were just 46 circuits, rnosvd were 163 — most of
which had 2 or 3 preachers assigned. Where tieisnew that local preachers
could be depended upon for assistance, he wouddtheit into consideration.

There were 18 presiding elders, each with ovetsighbout 9 circuits — in
each of which he would conduct 4 quarterly meetmgear. This was the begin-
ning of the districts, but it would not be untilxteear that the districts would be
named. Our conference territory was covered biyatiitcs. Harford, Carlisle and
Huntingdon circuits were under one presiding edfeo had 11 circuits under
him. Northumberland was under another presididgreivho only had responsi-
bility for 6 six circuits — but they included Phdelphia, Bristol, Strasburg &
Chester, Cecil & Wilmington, and Delaware (i.e.e tterritory later covered by
the Philadelphia and Peninsula Conferences ands8iats of the Central
Pennsylvania Conference!)

This year many new preaching places and meetingdsowere started,
but several should be mentioned. Bedford Coundyagiiing was now scheduled
in Bean’s Cove and at the historic Horne appointmenMr. Widney and his
brothers and sisters from Ireland now had a clagSoacord and undoubtedly
started their church building. The fascinatinggtof Concord’s first Methodists
was written in 1851 by Samuel Williams, one of éxtended Widney family, and
published inThe Ladies Repositof} The first meeting house for school and

¥ The church buildings at both of these locationomger house United Methodist
congregations. The story of Bean’s Cove and aghmeitar southern Bedford County churches
appears imThe Chronicleon pages 54-57 of a 2001 appendix titled “ForgoRennsylvania
Churches Once Served from Maryland.” Horne’s Chufcthe Wolfsburg charge literally fell
through the cracks of the 1968 denominational unibne last membership figure for Horne’s
was 25in 1951. In 1952 the entire membership“namoved by transfer and otherwise.” From
then until the 1968 union it appears as an inaciwech with no membership and no financial
activity. While the 1968 union placed the buildinghe Western Pennsylvania Conference, that
body appears to have taken no interest in it. Alsoongregation continues to function as
“Methodist” — but with no ties to either the CehtPennsylvania or Western Pennsylvania
Conference. —ed.

20 At this point, Dr. Berkheimer gives the 1851 detiby Samuel Williams. This article and other
information about the Widneys and the Concord dintiay be found in the extensive 1997
“History of Concord Circuit” on pages 42-1b1 The Chronicle—ed.
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religious purposes was erected about this time labrBingdale in Luzerne
County.

1801 This year the districts were first named — eveough the Annual
Conferences were not organized or named until theaes later. There were 19
districts for the 72,874 members reported that ye&7,186 white and 15,688
colored. Baltimore District contained Harford ciitc (477/161 white/colored
members, most of whom were in Maryland), Carlisleut (327/12 white/
colored members) and Huntingdon circuit (213/1 wefiblored members).
Northumberland circuit (215 white members) was hildelelphia District, and
Tioga circuit (136 members) was in Albany District.

During the year national membership increased fit874 to 86,734,
and the number of preachers from 307 to 358. Awal dircuits within our
conference boundaries were no exception to thiemadf growth. Carlisle, for
example, added 113 white and 21 colored membeustiktjdon almost doubled,
growing to 417. Harford added 79 white and 63 @domembers. Although
Northumberland circuit decreased from 215 to 1#B, unusually large increase
reported by Wyoming circuit suggests that a newnblauy line had transferred
the easternmost appointments to that circuit. I&ngi Tioga circuit in Albany
District of the Philadelphia Conference increasgably 10 members because of
a boundary adjustment with the neighboring Unidifi@uit. Some circuits were
increasing in number of preaching places as welh@sber of members and
would soon have to be divided — or have more pmachppointed to fill the
preaching schedule.

This year Dauphin appears as a circuit for thet fime, with Jacob Gruber
as the preacher in charge, although the class msHarg had not as yet been
formed. In addition, the year 1802 saw a churddcted in Huntingdon and
classes organized, among other places, at Towan&aidford county and the
Horne appointment in Bedford county.

And 1802 was the year Robert R. Roberts, latefittiemarried bishop of
the Methodist Episcopal Church, began his itinagatministry. He joined the
Baltimore Conference on trial and was sent to Slaricircuit as junior preacher,
with James Smith as preacher in charge. His bpdgrdells something of the
extent of the circuit and of the hardships he lagindure that yeat.

21 Born in Maryland, young Robert Roberts had seitiedtestern Pennsylvania — where he was
converted and felt the call to preach the Gospia.had a small farm, but he sold all his posses-
sions except his two horses and saddles and adesomal belongings. He brought his young
wife to live with his mother in York while he tralegl this extensive circuit, which required him to
be away 28 days out of 30. He later recordedhisatircuit had 30 preaching places — from
Turkey Valley (not far from Liverpool) and Milleivn (probably Pfoutz’s Valley) and Thomp-
sontown on the north, to Chambersburg and Waynesiiadt York on the south. In present day
terms, his circuit included part of Juniata coustyof Perry and Cumberland counties, and all of
York county except for a few preaching places flxive the Maryland line. That year Roberts
wore out both his and his wife’s horses and, ofrseplost them. He contracted measles and small
pox — from which he almost died. But most seriofiall, he and his wife were both afflicted with
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1803 It was now four years since the Prophet of theg.&oad had traveled
through central Pennsylvania, but Francis Asburyglena harvest time visit on
July 25, 1803. Traveling with Henry Boehm from IBtielphia towards the west,
he crossed the Susquehanna at Columbia and lodg&d “bork county at
Strickler’s, near Wrightsville. The next day hesna the court house in York and
stopped at John Lay’s, who was to become a leddéorx Methodism. He was
a trustee of the church — and when he died in EH84he age of 73, he had been
an active member there for more than 40 yearsmHray's he rode to Weirick
Pentz’s — then it was just north of town, but nbw site is within the present city
limits. This was a favorite “rest day retreat” fasbury, and he sometimes had
pangs of conscience for enjoying all of the congdhitese German people gave
him in their home. Tuesday he spent writing lsttat Pentz’'s. Wednesday
morning he preached at the chapel in York in thening, and he spent the
evening at James Worley’s.

Thursday he came to the Conewago Creek and preathibe home of
widow Hollopeter. Mrs. Martha Hollopeter lived niar from the present village
of Wellsville and conducted a private school whigxe Kralltown and Wellsville
roads join. Robert Ayres refers in his journathie Hollopeters, who seemed to
have influenced him as a young Methodist convewtrs. Hollopeter, a 1781
covert of freeborn Garrettson, left a remarkableoré and was known as a
teacher of the Indians who remained in that partyofk county. The early
Methodists at Wellsville included a number of coneéd Indians, one family of
whom became influential as leaders in the church.

On Friday, Asbury and Boehm came to Carlisle fer dqlnarterly meeting.
Boehm preached Friday evening. Asbury preachdd &aturday morning, and
Wilson Lee preached in the evening. “On the Sdbinat had a prayer meeting at
5 o’clock [a.m.l].” James Smith (presiding elddr Susquehanna District, of
which Carlisle was a part) preached at 8 o’clockbuyy followed him with a
sermon, and Lee preached in the afternoon. Betweeaching services they

generous doses of gross discouragement — on acobwhich they almost decided to go back to
farming. But before such a decision was finaliz‘edpurageous young woman at Shippensburg
influenced the Roberts not to give up the worke tory is worth repeating herghe junior
preacher on Carlisle circuit in 1801, the year bef®Roberts traveled it, was John Walls — who

like Roberts had just been admitted on trial in ¢oeference. He came from one of the classes in
York county and, as many beginners in those days agpointed to do, was traveling his “home
circuit.” This was the real test of their calls @mtentions. Walls was married, too, and the
hardships of the circuit were more than they ccagdr — so Walls went into business in Shippens-
burg and did not continue in the ministry. AppaheiMrs. Walls regretted their decision. Now
she observed their successors facing the samdisituaSister Walls made history in what was
probably the most effectual counseling she evdeyeaxf to anybody. She talked to the young and
discouraged circuit rider and his wife, telling Rend Mrs. Roberts that she and her husband had
made a great mistake in giving up and that theykhonot make the same mistake if indeed they
truly felt the call of God to the work. That tuththe tide, and Robert E. Roberts was saved to
become one of the pioneer bishops of Methodismwasethe first married bishop -- elected
shortly after the death of Asbury, who likely wonkver have permitted such.

31



conducted the business of the quarterly conferesmmetimes including one or
two church trials. Such was the schedule of tlrertgudy meeting.

On Monday, August 1, Asbury dined at David Snyslénear a place
called Newville” and preached to those who gathénede. Snyder was a United
Brethren minister whose home was always open toggio preachers itinerating
through the valley. Afterwards he hurried on toppkensburg and preached to a
crowded house in the evening. The next morningaimeg Boehm set out at 4
o’clock to cross the mountains toward Bedford —spagthrough Strasburg and
Fannettsburg, where they stopped to rest. Thewas difficult because of in-
tense heat, rugged mountains, and a wasting dygenfehis is essentially the
route of the present Pennsylvania Turnpike, butufgthad to cross the moun-
tains instead of tunneling through.

At this point in his journal, Asbury soliloquizepon this territory in these
words: “I feel and have felt thirty-two years foerthsylvania — the most wealthy
and the most careless about God, and the thingsodf But | hope God will
shake the State and the Church. There are nowrdpw& twenty German
preachers somehow connected with Mr. Philip Otieread Martin Boehm — but
they want [lack] authority, and the Church wantscKs] discipline.” He was
thinking of the failure of the Methodists to reable rank and file of the German-
speaking Pennsylvanians, and hoping for a betterdufor these independent
people long called “German Methodists” — even aftesy had become “The
United Brethren in Christ Church.”

On Wednesday they came to David Fields’. Here they,” and Wilson
Lee left them to go to the Fort Littleton quartemeeting. Asbury felt that the
people would be disappointed in him for not appeathere, but he could not
“stay one hundred miles in the rear of my appoimisidor such a purpose.”
After the eight mile climb of Sideling Hill, theytapped at Mr. Edward Head'’s
“house of entertainment” for the night. Thursdaygust 4", they passed through
Bedford County and over the Juniata River into BBeffomerset County.

The year 1803 is significant in Union County ase thate the first log
meeting house was erected by the Methodists orhNotverland circuit. Erected
in Mifflinburg, it was called Youngmanstown Chagel many years — for that
was the original name of the village. Legally tklsurch, which was used for
fifty years before its successor was built, wasedatThe Communion Christian
Church” — although its trustees were Methodists,ifavas under the care and
direction of Methodists who wanted any other bodyCaristians who had no
other building to be welcome there. A few decddes, the quarterly conference
directed the two original trustees Michael Lincadnd George Waggoner to
change the title to the Methodist Episcopal Church.

It is conjectured with good reason that these Midigts wanted to provide
a place for their Evangelical and United Brethreenfds to worship — since they
had no buildings of their own as yet. These Gergraups had entered Buffalo
Valley and gained a following — especially in theighborhood of Martin and
Jacob Dreisbach’s, in whose home quarterly meetofgsall three groups of
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“Methodists” (i.e., the English Methodists [ME],e&lGerman Methodists [UB],
the Albright Methodists [EV]) were held. Christiddewcomer of the UB'’s
Brethren conducted a quarterly meeting at Dreiskaatwhich he preached in
German, a companion preached in German, and “Mrlefsaa Methodist,
preached in English.” Mr. Farley was the leadethef White Deer Hole Valley
(Allenwood) class, and his home was on the mountdiich forms the northern
boundary of Buffalo Valley. The EV’s also held rtiegs there, including their
first (1816) General Conferenée.There is little doubt that UB and EV preachers
were not welcomed at the at established LutherafReformed buildings —
either at Dreisbach’s Church on the Dreisbach famat St. Elias’ (hamed for
Elias Youngman, founder of the village) in Youngrstamvn.

The conference minutes for 1803 also show Fotletdn as a new circuit
in the Susquehanna District of the Philadelphiaf@@mce — along with North-
umberland, Wyoming, Dauphin, Huntingdon and CaglisThis new appointment
included parts of the old Huntingdon and Carlisteuits, along with a number of
Maryland locations. Tioga circuit is now in ther&see District of the Philadel-
phia Conference.

New classes and preaching places were opening awp in many
locations, some of which never did develop intoietes or churches. The
Manor Hill class in Huntingdon County was one whadntinued, and so did the
one at nearby Donation — although the latter maye Haeen discontinued for a
time before it was permanently established. Trstohes of the churches at
Gettysburg in Adams County and Franklinville in @enCounty also report that
the first preaching was begun at these places absuear.

1804 The Susquehanna District was moved from Philadgelpd Baltimore

Conference this year. Juniata circuit, which hiast been named in 1784 and
then deleted from the list after two years, is nmwamed as a preacher’s
appointment — although no one was assigned atirtitee tThe preacher on Fort

% That the Evangelicals eventually won the Dreisbastevident from the fact that John, the 18
year old son of Jacob was licensed to preach ahfeience at their home, and he later became the
first editor of church literature of the Evangeliéasociation. After the death of Jacob Albright,

he was considered the strongest leader in the deaton. Without doubt, it was John Dresibach
who induced the Evangelicals to locate their fifstirch building across the mountain at New
Berlin — and to start their first printing planetie. Later this was the site of the denomination’s
first seminary/academy.

2 The Dreisbach story reaches beyond “Methodisttigsp for on their farm was erected a log
building named Dreisbach’s Church — used joinththy Lutherans and German Reformed of the
vicinity. About the turn of the century, howevbgth of these denominations were declining in
membership and interest there. The reason washth&eformed Church had a preacher who was
promoting the same “experimental religion” and umantional methods of public worship as the
United Brethren. This disturbed the leadershihefolder denominations, as their losses to the
“new fanatical religion” were damaging to their ctlues. This preacher, the Rev. John George
Pfrimmer, was referred to in histories of the GemReformed Church [viz., Harbaugh’s The
Fathers of the Reformed Chutas “the apostate Pfrimmer” — but in United Bretihchurch

history as “the sainted Father Pfrimmer.”
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Littleton circuit likely took care of some of thegaching places, with the help of
local preachers. The records of Brush Creek Vahelcate that David Best, a
preacher on Fort Littleton circuit, organized asslahis year at the mill of
Ephraim Akers — a place where preaching servicdskan held for some years.

William Colbert was presiding elder of Geneseetiidis Philadelphia
Conference, and mentions holding a quarterly mgedirthe meeting house (Old
Burlington) on Sugar Creek and staying over nighlaseph Ballard’s. He said
that Elisha Cole preached one of the sermons the@amuel Cole’s, Elisha
Cole’s, Lawrence’s and Hollenbeck’'s near Wyalusimgre some of the Tioga
circuit preaching places.

Bald Eagle Chapel was built this year at Philiptes and dedicated,
although unfinished, the next spring. This clags had continuous existence as
an organization from 1787 to the present. Sewaats ago, after the member-
ship had declined to but a few, an evangelistiorefamong the many new
residents of that now growing community resulte@lout 60 new members and
assures it of new prosperity and spiritual vitality

1805 Lycoming Chapel, a small frame structure builtland which Amariah
Sutton had designated for church and cemetery pagyavas first used this year.
This is the site of the present Calvary Church iHi&vhsport. The first quarterly
meeting of Northumberland circuit was held theneeJi5 and 16.

How many chapels stood within our territory atsttime, we cannot be
sure. A 1/31/191&hristian Advocatarticle, part of a series by James Mudge
titled “A Brief History of the People Called Methists,” notes that “previous to
1785 only 10 chapels had been built north of Margtjavhile 55 had been built in
and south of it.” Rock Chapel in Adams County wa®e of these ten earliest.
Fort Littleton had a chapel, and Asbury preached this year. Three Springs
had a chapel about 1790. One was erected this ate@oaldale in Bedford
County, and there may have been others. In addiicclass was organized this
year at Waynesboro — and preaching was startedicit glaces as Dillsburg,
Lawrenceville, New Albany, Waterville and Tombs Ron Pine Creek).

Once again Francis Asbury and his companions danoeigh Lancaster
(which was “still unpropitious to Methodism”), cised the river at Marietta, and
came into York. He spent a day at Weirick Pen&zid left his blessing upon
them. Instead of going to Carlisle, where theyaapptly were expected, Asbury
changed his mind and his course to ride through Bedin and arrive at Rock
Chapel — where he put up about a half mile fromctegpel at the home of Isaac
Haar, the first class leader there. The next dayolde to Shippensburg, but his
journal does not whether or not he preached th@m.Friday the headed west-
ward, as usual, across the mountains and stoppédhat Thompson’s in Burnt
Cabins Valley**

% Since the Thompson house was an important oneetaddism in this conference, let me here
risk a trial at identification. It is well-knowmat there are many errors in names, dates, tegts, e
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This year Asbury did not disappoint the peopl&at Littleton, as he did
on his last trip — and he spent Saturday theremgadriting and resting. On the
Sabbath at Fort Littleton Chapel he notes “we h&ekeling, melting season” and
adds that “we lodged with Father Ramsey — an exegéddnd people.”

On Monday August 19, 1805, Asbury reached Bedéord “had a fiddle
and flute to enliven our prayer and assist our taédn. | had but little rest.”
The local inn must have been a lively place, anevag either lodged in it or too
near to it for comfort. Up and away before dayjdie rode 16 miles and got to
Berlin in Somerset County, where he preached.

The great revival on the North Branch of the Seb@mna took place this
year. It began at Briar Creek, home of the Bowmans, the classes at Berwick
and many other places date their origin to thisiéedously moving time.

This was also the year of the first camp meetihgegord within our
bounds. It was held in August, about three milestiseast of Milton. The
preachers of Wyoming circuit joined with those obrithumberland to conduct
this innovation which proved to have such a dragniatpact upon the community
and the church. The conference archives contdesaription of this early camp
meeting in the words of one of the preachers whe pvasent, Joseph Carson.

1806 Preaching began this year at Mifflinville, ando#tter places near to Briar
Creek in the North Branch Valley. Methodist mensibgp of circuits involved in
our purview for the year 1806 are given in the Gahklinutes as follows:

name of circuit white members colored members
Northumberland 518 5
Carlisle 525 55
Huntingdon 398 1
Littleton 453 2
Juniata 105 3
Tioga 356 1
Hartford (mostly MD) 781 370

in Asbury’s journal — due likely to his writing itp days at a time, perhaps on rest days. It tequi
possible that instead of “John” he meant Isaac Tgsam of near Burnt Cabins, who gave the land
and was responsible for building the first log nmeghouse in this valley. Isaac Thompson died
on January 4, 1843, at the age of 81. His obitgaotes his testimony as follows: “l was born 6
of April 1762 in Chester County Pa, and moved ts filace in 1788. In March 1791 | was con-
verted under the sermon of John Rowen, the firshge every preached in my house. | obtained
sanctification in 1803.” His pastor writes thukte' was for forty years the leader of one or two
classes. He was a steward for forty-four yeard,ranording steward for twenty-four years
Asbury accepted his hospitalfifalics added]. Having no children, he madelth&. Church his
heir, giving half of his real estate to the MissionSociety and the other half to the Preacher’s
Aid Society of the Baltimore Conference... Father fipson’s has long been known as the
traveling preachers’ home.” In addition, Lytle’'876 History of Huntingdon Counsays that

“the first log church of the Methodists, built twales from Burnt Cabins, was erected on lands of
Isaac Thompson, built largely by his means.” Ashid’ Thompson is otherwise unknown, we
assume that Asbury was referring to Isaac.
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This year Lycoming circuit now appears, having robeeparated from
Northumberland circuit. The classes sending inaftgrage” for 1806 on
Lycoming circuit included Loyalsock (between Willisport and Montoursville),
Lycoming Chapel (Williamsport), Henry Thomas’ (Lgs Creek), Benjamin
Beard’s (Liberty), Philip Antes’ (Bald Eagle VallgyRichard Gunsaulus’ (Beech
Creek), Logan’s Branch (near Bellefonte), Senc@gsionville), Centre Furnace
(State College), Robert Pennington’s (Penn’s Vall&¥icholas Egbert's (near
Forest Hill, Union County), Youngmanstown (Mifflinbg), John Thompson’s
(Buffalo Valley, near Mifflinburg), Farley’s (Whit®eer Hole Valley = Allen-
wood), and Snider's (near Elimsport). This does indicate all the preaching
places, but only the classes whose leaders haagird'quarterage” for the
support of the preachers. Among the many intengempilaces that had regular
preaching ministry, for example, were Watervilledasther Pine Creek homes —
where John Thomas (then the local preacher soneoiyHThomas of Larry’s
Creek, but later a member of Baltimore Conferemeeabout 60 years) is said to
have started preaching by 1805.

Timothy Lee and Jesse Pinnell were the circuia@ners on Lycoming
circuit that year. Lee was a ministerial son ofdBBagle class and became the
father of the notable Joseph S. Lee, evangelisgagher of the Baltimore Con-
ference and founder of the Lee family of prominktgthodist leaders at Clear-
field. Timothy Lee established several additigolaces in Penn’s Valley. It was
he who, being unable to find a place at Milheimwinich to preach, stood on a
stump in the village and began to sing hymns — whitracted a crowd and led to
a revival and the organization of a church.

1807 Bald Eagle circuit appears among the appointméndsyear, with Edward
Matthews as the preacher in charge, but LycominpBaid Eagle appear to have
continued together as one circuit. The next yealoes not appear among the
appointments — nor does it re-appear until 181%mit is permanently cut off
from Lycoming circuit.

This was the year that the first Methodist preaghreached into the
western mountains as far as Philipsburg, and sarthinto Mercersburg. At
New Albany in Bradford County a class was now oigeah, and at Milton (where
there had been a class for four or five years)ganh@eting house was erected.
This was also the memorable year in which the lerstiChristian and Thomas
Bowman of Briar Creek, near Berwick, were ordaibgdAsbury at the Forty-Fort
camp meeting. The Bowmans had been converts afirikskhile they still lived
near the Delaware Water Gap in Northampton County o 1792.

That significant journey of Asbury through the ans recorded in his
journal. Coming from an extraordinarily difficulime in Chemung and Tioga
counties in New York, Asbury and Henry Boehm rodeTioga in Bradford
County PA on July 13. They had dinner at “BrotBaippey’s, a blacksmith who
held meetings in his house.” The next stop waBatiel Minier's, two miles
south of Tioga Point [Athens], on Queen Estherat.FIHere they lodged. On
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Tuesday the 1% they rode to Judge Obadiah Gore’s at Ulster, witesieury
preached and stayed the night. On Wednesday thiegd at Wyalusing, after
difficulties with their carriage over a precipitosfretch of road, and stayed at
Major Gaylord’s on the north side of Wyalusing Geeelt was on this trip
through the present Wyoming Conference territorgt tbn Sunday, July 19,
Asbury ordained Thomas and Christian Bowman inwbeds near Forty-Fort —
in a rainstorm which “scattered the flock.” Decsdater a Methodist woman
wrote that she had held an umbrella over the BisWwbe he ordained the
Bowmans.

In one week, Asbury and Boehm traveled througlemtbwn, Kutztown,
Reading, Soudersburg, Lancaster and Columbia. ®ndily, July 28, they
came to Little York. Asbury spent the week writietfers and catching up on his
journal. On Sunday, August 1, he preached in tiapel at York to about 600
hearers. He spoke again in the afternoon — “lottggar in the morning,” when he
said that he had been “short and temperate.” Wedldhe hospitality of the
Weirick Pentz family, near the town, where he daédhad his “paradise.” It
seems his conscience bothered him a little, fondted “I now fare sumptuously
every day.” Despite his English background, Astapparently enjoyed Pennsyl-
vania Dutch cooking.

On Tuesday, August 4, they rode to George Nailogar Dover, but went
on and spent the night at the widow Hollopeterarn&/ellsville. On Wednesday
Asbury preached at Stickle’s school house towardsvigberry, a long-time
preaching place on Carlisle circuit, “to a full rodfor about an hour.” That
evening they lodged in Lewisberry. “Thursday brougs through an obscure
town to Brother Weber’'s.” This was not Shiremanstpas the new edition of
Asbury’s Journal (footnote 102 on page 551 of Vatuii) suggests, but Lisburn
that he traveled through to visit the “Casper Wepb&ermans in their first love.”
The Webers lived at their mill along Yellow Breesh€reek, near the site of
today’s White Hill Correctional Institutiofr.

August 8 and 9 was the quarterly meeting in QarlisOn the Sabbath
Asbury preached both morning and afternoon, “myybfatht; my spirit fervent.”
The next day he preached at Shippensburg and edldire class leader John
Davis a local deacon. A few years later John Daos Samuel would become
an itinerant in the Baltimore Conference. On Mondaght Asbury lodged with

% This surname anglicized to “Weaver.” Casper, Wwad settled here before the Revolution, died
prior to 1780. Asbury was apparently visiting gom who lived on the family homestead — there
were two sons, and neither was named Casper. ifEheas still known as locally as “Casper
Weaver’s Mill.” Later Carlisle circuit riders refed regular rounds from Lewisberry to Lisburn
to Weaver's. On February 1, 1811, for examplehiaitel Mills “rode from here [Lisburn] to
Brother Weaver's, where | had a considerable nurbbesome of them were very trifling. But in
class meeting some got very happy. Friday: Rod®impany with Brothers Weaver and Crist
into Carlisle, where was a meeting of trusteestwsalt about building a new meeting house in
Carlisle.” This was likely Peter Weaver, grandsbi©€asper, who was listed as a trustee of the
Carlisle church at a later date. The Weaver dag®ars to have disbanded by 1827.
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John Scott, “one of my hearers thirty years agGlester County, now warm in
the cause of God.”

On Tuesday the Bishop began the arduous toil ofsing the three
mountains. At Fort Littleton, he “dined with thenjor and lodged with the senior
Ramsay.” A rainy trip into Bedford on Wednesdayg@st 12, brought him to
the stage house — where the proprietor Mr. Grahave ¢§im such kind and free
hospitality as he had not received in any othellipiiouse in a year. From there
Asbury and Boehm rode to Berlin, heading westwaveatd Pittsburgh.

1808 This year for the first time there is a Carlislastiict in Baltimore
Conference. It was composed of Harford, Carlisittleton, Juniata, Huntingdon
and Aughwick circuits — the last named being a m#&euit which covered the
territory drained by the Aughwick Creek. This egllextended from Burnt
Cabins and Fort Littleton to Newton Hamilton. Thew circuit was west of
Juniata circuit and east of Huntingdon circuithaltgh the boundaries were not
definitely fixed.

The first Methodist service of record in Harrisppuvas held in 1808. And
the Old Stone Church at Briar Creek was built yl@iar by Rev. Thomas Bowman
and his sons — with the help of very few others.

1809 At the Baltimore Conference held in Harrisonburg WA March 2, 1809,
Carlisle District now reported 2,228 white and 4&lored members by circuits
as follows: Harford, 578 and 362; Carlisle, 536 d&1d Littleton, 406 and 2;
Juniata, 362 and O; Huntingdon, 174 and 3; Aughwitk?2 and 3. At the
Philadelphia Conference held in Philadelphia onilAf@y 1809, Susquehanna
District reported 3,629 white and 21 colored memsli®r circuits now within our
conference as follows: Northumberland, 532 totglcdming, 553 and 14; Tioga
341 and 2.

On Friday, July 2% two years and one week after his last visit there
Asbury was resting at Dr. Stephen Hopkins’ in Tiégant [Athens]. Because of
high water he could not proceed, and so he camk dat called a meeting. On
Saturday morning they were at Judge Obadiah Gagan, but tarried only
briefly. Again they go through Wilkes Barre, Nazidr, Bethlehem, Allentown
and on to Martin Boehm’s in Lancaster County. Titemas through Lancaster
and on to York, where Asbury preached at 6 o’clockhe evening on Saturday
July 29" and on Sunday. On this trip Asbury had his uttgérs to write, but he
could tarry only a day. By Tuesday evening at 8ark he was preaching in
Carlisle, having “alighted, stopped, talked, atd prayed” twice on the way.

Shippensburg welcomed him on Wednesday, Auglf§tbit he had a
blistered knee which prevented him from standingreach or kneeling to pray.
By Thursday, never-the-less, he was over the mowstnd preaching to a few
hearers at Fort Littleton — stopping on the waylmpson’s near Burnt Cabins,
and lodging at Ramsay’s — “James Hunter’s househante.” James Hunter was
presiding elder of Carlisle District. He traveledh Asbury to Bedford Saturday,
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and they lodged at Stephenson’s. Sunday Asbugcheal in the court house “by
necessity, not choice.” Without naming James Hurlte records: “There was
but one indecorous thing observed; a presiding gldehis feet upon the banister
of my pulpit whilst | was preaching, and it wasdli& thorn in my flesh until they
were taken down.” By Monday evening Asbury waBerlin and heading west.

This year preaching services were held more @& tegularly on Tioga
circuit at Tioga, Covington and Lawrenceville —daly by Caleb Boyer, who was
made an elder at the Christmas Conference of 1784 veho had left the
itinerancy and moved from Delaware to settle neatldoro. This was also the
year the first preaching was held in the Robbinsba Greenwood township,
Columbia County — later developing into the GreeowdChurch. The same
preacher is said to have started to preach at Gkestk, where a church was built
— but later sold by the society when they moved the nearby town of Benton.
Bloody Run [Everett] became a preaching placeybés also.

Classes were organized this year at GreenwooddBl&un, Duncannon
(Young's Church), Town Hill and Lawrenceville. AnBedford circuit now
appears among the Carlisle District assignmentsperting to the next (1810)
conference with 71 white and 2 colored memberdtleton and Juniata circuits
decreased in members during the last year, whiletirigdon circuit more than
doubled — probably indicating a re-adjustmentdiandircuit boundaries.

1810 This year the first circuit rider began to predon the mountain top.”

This is the Clearfield-Philipsburg area, and it vpast of the Carlisle District of
Baltimore Conference. Curwensville and Moshanrmpears now as a circuit for
the first time.

The first preaching is recorded now at Black Creekuzerne County and
at Hanover and Shrewsbury (then called Strasbariyprk County. And the first
classes were organized at Harrisburg (by pastoosn@k Boring and John Fernan
of Dauphin circuit) and at Black Creek (by the pastof Wyoming circuit).

Meeting houses were erected at Wellsville, WaioMark and
Shirleysburg. At Gatchelville, Nathaniel Mills wds preaching in the Prospect
Meeting House — which must have been built eithisryear or earlier.

Beginning July 28 at Lyons, Ontario County NY, Bishop Asbury con-
ducted a special session for the purpose of organia new Conference to be
called Genesee — “composed of Susquehanna, Caypgay and Lower Canada
districts.” Having concluded this historic meetidgbury and his traveling com-
panion Henry Boehm began the trip “down country’tBking the shortest (but
not the easiest) route from north of Seneca Lakthéosouthern appointments
which awaited him.

Thursday July 2B they arrived at Captain Benjamin Clarke’s at Ulste
They had traveled 140 miles in 3%z days and were arothe recently constructed
Genesee Trail — which connected the Genesee coantlythe Susquehanna
Valley (at Muncy). The road had been opened abeuén or eight years prior,
but was still scarcely more than a horse path betvwke mountains. The feeble
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bishop rode in a two-wheeled sulky which provedé¢otoo wide for the road at
some places. To protect him from the danger afidéirown out, Boehm drove
the sulky over the more treacherous stretches wAslairy rode Boehm’s horse.
The sulky did overturn at least once — slightlyinimg Boehm, while Asbury was
on his sure-footed mount.

Making as much haste as possible, they pressedrdrumtil high streams
made fording impossible. They had passed the &drat present-day
Eldredsville, disapproving of their following thenitarian views of Dr. Priestly
(now living at Northumberland), and soon found tkeimes stranded in the
sparsely settled wilderness of Sullivan County. aftimpassable stream near
present Lincoln Falls, they were found by John B@md taken to his cabin. To
this day the descendants of John Bown point out dite of their pioneer
immigrant ancestor’s cabin and a large rock outsidedoorway where Asbury
sat to read his Bible and pray. Pilgrimages ardama this site by the youth who
attend summer events at Camp Loyalstick.

By Tuesday, the waters having receded somewhatiitierants were able
to cross the Loyalsock with the aid of a canoe #may finally came to Muncy
Creek and Muncy Town, then called Pennsborough.iléMisbury said they
came to “Muddy Creek,” he probably meant Muncy ®reeThey may have
traveled, however, all the way to Muddy Run - whiempties into the
Susquehanna above Milton. In that case, they plglbadged with the Vincents
— who had erected their mill on that stream andewike forebears of John Heyl
Vincent, educator and bishop of the Methodist Churc

Asbury says that on Wednesday they arrived at Mdarberland and
lodged there. They started out early Thursday mgrrerossed the Susquehanna,
rode down the west bank of the river past Selinsgrand Liverpool to
Moorhead’s Ferry — which they used to get backhi® ¢ast side of the river.
Operating between Liverpool and Millersburg, thisaswthe antecedent of
Montgomery’s Ferry and is now known popularly as hillersburg Ferry.

They dined Thursday with the Fergusons, “Methedstely from Ireland”
who had recently settled in Dauphin. This famigyne from Ireland in 1800 and
was instrumental in starting the Dauphin circuitB01. By 1802 preaching was
started in Harrisburg, even though the first cleas not organized until Asbury’s
visit in 1810. Rev. William G. Ferguson (1832-1898 leading member in the
Central Pennsylvania Conference, was a grandsoAsbiiry’s host on this
occasion. These Dauphin Fergusons are mentionederhistory of Harrisburg
Methodism as being influential in starting the tfidass there. The role that

% Bown and his family were said to have been Metstsdh England, and they later affiliated
themselves with American Methodism as soon asetasere formed at Forksville and Hills-
grove. Rev. Charles L. Bown, a grandson of Askaihgst, was a longtime member of the Gene-
see Conference. The bodies of John Bown and nwaefchis family lie in the Hillsgrove ceme-
tery. [The full story of this trip and Asbury'srtgorary refuge with Bown is found in “Bishop
Asbury’s Rock” by Adona Sick on pages 44-48 of 1889 volume offhe Chronicle —ed.]
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Asbury’s visit here played in what transpired inriburg is not mentioned, but
it may have been significant.

After a swing to Lancaster for the Sabbath, whieee preached both
morning and evening, Asbury came to Columbia on ddynand preached there
at twelve o’clock noon. Not resting, he and Bogbushed on to York the next
day and called on friends Nailor and Wall (north¥adrk, probably at Dover).
They stopped for the night at Casper Weaver’s enyillow Breeches near Mill
Town [White Hilll. From Weaver’s they went into fliale on Wednesday, where
Asbury drew plans for a one-story 70x45 chapelings$2000. Apparently the
Carlisle people did not like his plan, for in 18t®y dedicated a two-story 60x45
brick church.

On Thursday Asbury was oppressed by the heat asdeeto Shippens-
burg, where he lodged with brother Reid and pred@hé&our improved chapel.”
On Friday “our neat little chapel” at Chambersbuvgs not large enough to
accommodate the people, and so Asbury preachée icourthouse.

The Fort Littleton congregation was again favoir@dhave Asbury preach
in its chapel on Sunday, August 12 — but Asburynfbit “a burden” to do so,
even though he “enjoyed a gracious season” thd@iee trip over Sideling Hill
was hot, dusty, and rocky going. He found newdiféloody Run [Everett] and
declares that henceforth it shall be “New Hope."e pteached at Barndollar
Tavern, “where seven in the family now fear and shgr God... Once a very
wicked place, but O, what hath God wrought!”

Tuesday Asbury and Boehm had their horses re-sttoBloody Run
before leaving for Bedford. Time did not permieg@ching there, but they dined
with “brother Stevens.” This was likely David Sems, who had this year taken a
supernumerary relation after having served as peran charge on Juniata
circuit in 1808 and on Huntingdon circuit in 180Bourteen miles farther on they
spent the night at Metzhoffer’s, likely a publicuse. On Wednesday they rode
over the Alleghenies to Berlin in Somerset County.

The actual extent of the Carlisle circuit in 188®f interest, and we find
the listing of those preaching places in the jouwfaNathaniel Mills — who
traveled that circuit from December 5 until the A@811 annual conference.
Asbury had urged all his preachers to make recanud,to write descriptions of
the locations of their classes and preaching placasd Nathaniel Mills was one
who followed his suggestions carefully. His joufi@as been preserved, and we

2" Nathaniel Mills had been appointed to Harford wirat the annual conference which met in
Baltimore in March. His journal also names all greaching places on that circuit. The

following excerpts from April-May 1810 relate ortly those Pennsylvania preaching places of
historical importance to our conference territory.

*Mon 4/2 — “Rode to Henry Manifold’s in Pennsylvanabout 8 miles [from Ingram’s, his

previous Maryland stop]. He is class leader aspeot.”

*Tue 4/3 — “Rode over to old Brother Ewing’s.” Abnder Ewing was one of Colbert’s converts

in 1791. He had several daughter in the society,lés son James Ewing was a traveling preacher
who had four sons that became Methodist preachérs. Alexander Ewing probably did not
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can rather clearly follow the rounds of severaltiod early circuits he traveled.
The following records are for his first round onrl&de circuit, beginning in
December 1810.

eWed 12/5 — “by candlelight preached to a clevergtegation of attentive
hearers” at Lewisberry.

eThu 12/5 — rode six 6 miles to Lisburn, where Vieny turned out to hear him
because of the poor roads. In the evening hetmiéeaver’s, on the Yellow
Breeches near present White Hill, and preachee ther

oFri 12/7 — rode into Carlisle and attended a prayeeting in the evening.
eSat 12/8 — spent in Carlisle reading and visitikl “had a comfortable time
with a family who moved from the Eastern Shoreefative of Major Taylor’s).”
eSun 12/9 — met a class at 10:30, preached at 12 noet another class
(“colored people”) at 3, preached again by canglteli “A good deal of exercise
— but as my day was, so was my strength. Onlyetappeared too much for-
mality to run there the various duties and exesctdehe day — so that neither
myself nor the people were so much profited as eutdchave been, had there
been more spirituality in the devotions of the daprd be merciful to my weak-
ness and pardon my infirmities. ”

leave the Presbyterian Church of which she wasrabee Two of their daughters married
brothers James and Tobias Reiley, who had beenpghsior on Harford circuit.

*Wed 4/4 — “Father Ewing rode with me to show neerbad. Reached Brother Low’s.” This was
along the road from Baltimore to York, south ofgeet Shrewsbury. They used a building called
Low’s Meeting House prior to 1815, when the sociergcted Rock Chapel.

*Thu 4/5 — “At 12, preached at Low’s.”

*Fri 4/6 — “Class meeting.”

*Sat 4/7 — “At Brother Meredith’s.” Just below thkason-Dixon Line, Meredith’s Meeting
House was later called West Liberty appointment.

*Sun 4/29 — “Rode up to Prospect.”

*Mon 4/30 — “Rode to A. Ewing’'s”

*Tue 5/1 — “Rode to a new place [un-named] ancbupwting’s in the evening.”

*Wed 5/2 — “Rode to Brother Low’s.”

*Thu 5/3 — “Preached at Low’s.”

[travels in Maryland]

Tue 5/29 — “Rode to old Brother Ewing’s.”

Wed 5/30 — “Spent at Brother Ewing’s, and attengieyer meeting in the evening at Prospect
Meeting House.” As Prospect Meeting House is tligireal name of the Gatchelville Church, this
indicates that a building had been erected therEsiiy.

«In the fall Mills describes a camp meeting at Lewamp ground at which 3000 were present,
with 259 white and 49 colored members taking comiorunAmong the local and traveling
preachers who attended was Henry Lenhart, who teigita Williamsport the next year and
became a prominent there as an influential mer¢haanufacturer of hats, local politician, and
leading Mason — as well as an effective and udebal preacher. [Seehe Chroniclefor 1999,
page 49, for the story of his son Chaplain Johbenhart, who died when the battleship
Cumberland was sunk by the celebrated Monitor abjptan Roads in 1862 — ed.]
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eMon 12/10 — rode out of Carlisle about 6 miles tother Heikes, “a Dutchman
who wears his beard,” and preached by candlelight.

eTue 12/11 — rode about 16 miles to Shippensburgskemd “at one Hunt, who
came from England and who helps a cotton manufaétor

eWed 12/12 — preached in Shippensburg by candleiaghtsmall congregation.
eThu 12/13 — left Shippensburg, rode to Chamberstaurd called on brother
Johns.

oFri 12/14 — rode 15 miles to Waynesboro, preaclyechbdlelight, and met the
class after the service.

eSat 12/15 — rode back to Chambersburg.

eSun 12/16 — preached in Chambersburg at 11, reati#iss after the service,
rode to Shippensburg, and preached by candlelig@drbther Stevens gave a
moving exhortation afterwards.” This was undoubtddhvid Stevens, who was a
supernumerary this year.

eMon 12/17 — spent in Shippensburg. “By candlel@fténded a singing meeting
the society holds to improve themselves in thalephrt of the divine service.”
eTue 12/18 — visited families in the country “andal it good for me and | hope
not in vain for them.” Then he preached by cangelback in Shippensburg.
eWed 12/19 — rode 2 miles out of Shippensburg toheroMeshey’s and
“preached to a clever company of willing hearers.”

eThu 12/20 — rode to Carlisle.

oFri 12/21 — waited until 2 o’clock for the othemsar preacher on the circuit,
James Reid, who never came. He then rode outiemtf Kenega’'s” at or near
Mt. Holly Springs to preach and meet the class dlfie service.

eSat 12/22 — rode 12-14 miles “on a lonesome roadfi¢ neighborhood of Rock
Chapel and called on Henry Montorff.

eSun 12/23 — preached at Rock Chapel, “a new [Hagbrieg house” where “there
has been a good congregation, but it is much sedtt# late by the preachers’
neglecting of them and making disappointments.”

eMon 12/24 — rode to East Berlin and spent the exgewiith “brother S,
oppressed in mind.”

eTue 12/25 — was “some relieved” to preach in EastiBon Christmas day
from Isaiah 9:6 on “Unto us a child is born...” Heeached again in the evening
to a larger congregation “and with greater libérty.

eWed 12/26 — traveled to Volgemuth'’s, near Wellsvill

eThu 12/27 — traveled to Worley’s, in York.

oFri 12/28 — rode to Nailor’s, near York, and preztim the evening.

eSat 12/29 — rode back to York

eSun 12/30 — met the York class at 9:30, preachéd and by candlelight.
eMon 12/31 — rode to brother Hollopeter’s, near \&glle, “and preached to a
few by candlelight, being the last day of 1810.”

eTue 1/1/1811 — preached at noon at Maytown at 8itsckchool house and by
candlelight at brother Pike’s.
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e\Wed 1/2 — completed his first round on the cir@itpreaching in the evening in
Lewisberry.

During the four-week circuit he had preached 26eim As there were two
preachers assigned to the circuit, each appointrygitally had a preaching
service every two weeks.

1811 Even though his age and infirmities are increageshury makes his
annual harvest-time trip through southern PennsydvaThis year he visits York,
East Berlin, Chambersburg, McConnellsburg and BedfoLewisberry, where
Methodism was introduced by Freeborn Garrettsoh7iil, now builds a church
for worship.

On this trip the bishop elaborates very little iis fournal, although he
may have deleted incidents he considered persorhlo& no historical value
when he edited it. Wednesday August' 2k preached in York. Thursday he
went to East Berlin, dined there, and lodged at‘tiwenty-five mile house.” He
probably did not visit Carlisle, and he appears mot have stopped in
Shippensburg. He reached Chambersburg “very wed&ed.” On Sunday,
nevertheless, he preached “at our old chuféhyiet the society, and preached
again at 4 o'clock in the Presbyterian church. nded that the people here “are
so strict on the Lord’s Day in this town — we st@agons which may attempt to
travel through.” On Monday they kept their facesstward and traveled the
mountainous road from St. Thomas to McConnellsbang Bedford, where
sheriff Jacob Bennett “was exceedingly kind, brarsgely shy of our company.”
Tuesday they left our bounds.

1812 Chambersburg circuit appears for the first tirmethe Carlisle District of
Baltimore Conference, and a number of its origipgtaching places were in
Maryland. Shamokin circdit also makes it initial appearance, in the Susque-
hanna District of Genesee Conference. HuntingesmhMoshannon circuits were
combined this year. The first recorded preachenyises were held by traveling
preachers in Lewistown (Mifflin County), Jonesto{@olumbia County) and Big
Pond (Tioga County). The first class was organeteldewisburg.

Membership figures illustrate the rapid growthMéthodism within our
bounds. After Freeborn Garrettson opened LittlekYeircuit in 1781, there were
90 members for that assignment — and that first beeship report covered the

2 \When Asbury refers to “our old church,” he prohyalas thinking of the new one which was
then in the process of erection. The first chagssd now proving too small. In 1803 this small
society had only three members when Mrs. NancyeBgejbined it. She came there from
Baltimore, where she had originally been awakenmetkuthe preaching of Dr. Thomas Coke.
Methodism was beginning to acquire some stature &ed elsewhere, despite the fact that
Methodists were frequently looked down upon as omeational and uncultured people.

2 While Shamokin is no longer within the Central Rgyivania Conference, it was when Dr.
Berkheimer was writing this paper. Similarly, @ealysis in the following paragraphs fails to
mention the work in Dauphin County — which was thethe Philadelphia Conference. — ed.
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entire area of the present Central Pennsylvaniafe@amce! By 1792 the
conference territory included 250 on members Noniberland circuit, 215 on
Huntingdon, 200 on Little York, 71 on Tioga, plus mdeterminate number of
the 811 members on Harford circuit — for a totaV86+. In 1812 that same area
now reports 589 members of Northumberland circa®® on Carlisle, 486 on
Tioga, 474 on Lycoming, 373 on Littleton, 313 onntdogdon, 184 on Augh-
wick, 173 on Juniata, 96 on Bedford, and 46 on Maslon — for a total of 3,303,
not including those on the Harford and Alleghenguits living within Pennsyl-
vania.

While the territory was extensive, it was contdin@incipally in two
districts: the Carlisle District in Baltimore Conémce, and Susquehanna District
in Genesee Conference. Carlisle District had &uds (including Carlisle, Little-
ton, Huntingdon, Aughwick, Juniata, Bedford and Kesnon from the above
list) and extended from just north of Baltimorestveral miles west of Clearfield.
Susquehanna District had 10 circuits, including tNemberland, Tioga and
Lycoming form the above list) and extended fromI&ug to Lake Ontario. Each
presiding elder conducted four quarterly meetingseach circuit — and stayed
over when the meetings became “protracted” beybadisual two days. He was
also expected to attend all the camp meetings sndlstrict, usually preaching
several times at each. The distances that had tealeled on horse-back made
the presiding elder’s task stupenddus.

Even a trip around a single circuit was no easlg.tdn 1812 Nathaniel B.
Mills traveled Littleton circuit, his journal fohat year indicating the route and
preaching places. Following the pattern of the, dhg circuit was basically a
figure eight that took four weeks to traverse -hviwwo men assigned to travel the
circuit so that they were typically on opposite gecand each outlying appoint-
ment received preaching every two weeks. The itiveas based at Fort Littleton
and the nearby Fiddler house, from which three dwts entered the traveling
ministry — John in 1784, David in 1789, and Noahl801. And each loop
included key similarly dependable appointments tleér became bases of
circuits of their own.

e the eastern loop. From Fort Littletown to Isadompson’s near Burnt Cabins,
north up Tuscarora Valley Pohe’s , and east adm¥¥idney’s and Concord at
the top of Path Valley, south down Path Valley Bayder's and Ligo’s
(sometimes preaching and traveling one mountaihdureast in Horse Valley) to
Mercersberg, further south via West’'s and Newsoo'Brather’s meeting house
at Clear Spring Maryland. This is the southeastenit of the circuit. From
there it was back across Tuscarora mountain (oresomas around its southern

30 At this point Dr. Berkheimer relates the classicaunt of presiding elder George Harmon'’s
1812 winter travels on the Susquehanna DistrigcaBise this appears beginning on page 9 of the
2002 volume offhe Chronicleit will not be reprinted here. — ed.

31 By 1838 a separate Concord appointment was foramatla new figure eight circuit was

created centered at Concord. The story of theldpneent of this circuit is the major article in the
1997 volume ofrhe Chronicle— ed.
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terminus) into Fulton County and through presenChlenellsburg back to Fort
Littleton.
e the western loop. North from Fort Littleton oretiwest side of Shade mountain
to Cromwell’s Works (Orbisonia), to Three Springs Duvall’s®® on Broad Top,
to McLaughlin’s®, across Ray’s Hill to Robert Akers on Brush CreekWells
Valley, across Sideling Hill to Hamp’s, and backmart Littleton.

Asbury’s travels for 1812 found him within our derence boundaries for
a single night. The 67-year-old bishop began tbaryn South Carolina and
preached his way through North Carolina, VirginMaryland, Pennsylvania
(eastern portion), New Jersey, New York, Connettiblassachusetts. Mid-way
through the year, on July 1, he turned around tdhsouth and west via New
York, Pennsylvania (eastern portion), Maryland, i3stvania (western portion),
Ohio, Kentucky, Tennessee, and North Carolina t # year where he had
begun it — in South Carolina. It was during hisgdst swing to the west that he
passed through the extreme southern end of Yorki@an his way from eastern
Pennsylvania to Maryland. His journal includesfiiilowing entries.
eMon 8/17 — We crossed [the Susquehanna] at McChallty and came to father
Jones's?*
eTue 8/18 — We rode through the rain to John LoWtined, prayed and came
away to Manchester [Maryland].

1813 This year Asbury’s journal records visits at Bowrsaat Briar Creek, at
Gearhart’s at Riverside, and at Mcintyre’s neara@atsa. On Thursday, July 22,
accompanied by Bishop McKendree and J.C. Frenchdtficial traveling com-
panion for the year), he arrived at Bowman'’s “ttagee, weary and in pain.” He
preached at the camp meeting there, but retireld avhiigh fever after his turn in
preaching. Again on the Sabbath he preached, Uftdred intensely — and his
journal gives an outline of his sermon.

Nevertheless, on Monday the party was up and @&awpiles to Danville.
Here he met his old friend Mollie Wallace, wifeD&niel Montgomery, and finds

32 This was Dr. Jeremiah Duvall, the first physicéamd the first Methodist local preacher in these
parts.

* The McLaughlins were the ancestors of Rev. Johhaughlin (Secretary of the Commission
on Chaplains) and his sister Elizabeth (once thi&feim’s Worker of our Conference) and the
maternal ancestors of Reverends. J.E. Skillingt@hJaW. Skillington

34 Ellis Jones, a member of Baltimore Conferenceestheir earliest records of 1801, lived just
north of the Mason-Dixon line.

% The significance of John Low to early area Metkodcannot be understated. On his
Shrewsbury township property just north of the Ma&oxon line were a meeting house, a camp
ground and a burying ground. Because of his prenta, the entirety of his extended obituary
which appeared ifithe Christian Advocate and Jourrfak March 29, 1848, is given in the
appendix. It was submitted by Henry Doll, for mamars a local preacher at Rock Chapel and
Shrewsbury.
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her much changed after 44 ye#tsThey crossed the North Branch on Gearhart's
ferry to get to present Riverside, where RevolwignVar worthy Captain Jacob
Gearhart had settled on a grant of land. His s@ol) Gearhart Jr became a con-
vert of Asbury, probably on this visit, and a praoemt Methodist leader. His wife
was a sister of the reverends Christian and Thddoagman of Briar Creek, and
their labors helped sustain “the Gearhart appointirterough the decades to the
place where a meeting house was erected about 1B28.congregation having
since relocated into Riverside, that site a fewemitowards Sunbury is now
occupied by the remaining cemetery. At Gearhdhéy lost a day looking for
French’s run-away horse.

It must have been on this trip that Joseph Mcétyas visited and con-
verted by Asbury, for Mcintyre’s testimony was theat was converted to God
through a visit of Asbury to him home. He liveduio of Catawissa, along the
road Asbury took that day on his way to Reading ddon started a class in his
home, later giving a corner of his farm and erertivereon a Methodist meeting
house - still called Mcintyre’s Church, the mothef Catawissa-area
Methodism®’

On Wednesday, July 21, the travelers started dberReading pike at 6
o'clock in the morning and crossed into the teryitof the Philadelphia Con-
ference. By August fDAsbury was in Little York by way of Columbia, bhe
does not comment on his visit or labors there. t@n 11" he traveled toward
Maryland — again going south to avoid the mountahsentral Pennsylvania to
travel west along the Potomac River and the NatiBoad.

1814 Meeting houses were erected this year at Manor &titl at “Father

Pennington’s” in Penn’s Valley — and several othexsre authorized, as at
Dunnstown. Chambersburg is now an appointmenharGeorgetown District of
Baltimore Conference. Wyalusing is a new appoimime the Susquehanna
District of Genesee Conference.

Asbury returns to his westerly route through tlemtal Pennsylvania
mountains, but his journal includes only one secgeabout the trip: “I have
clambered over the rude mountains, passing throdggkh and Chambersburg to
Greensburg.” A more detailed account of an epiakaigit to the area is given by
George Harman, presiding elder of the vast Suseureh®istrict, describing his
accompanying Bishop McKendree from New York statBlbody Run [Everett].

3 Berkheimer inserts “(note on Daniel M. and hise)iifat this point in his uncompleted
manuscript. Elmer Clark’s 1958 edition_of The Jalrf Francis Asburfor this date reads, “The
wife of Daniel Montgomery is my old friend Molly Wes. Yes, | saw her; but ah! How changed
in forty-two years — time has been eighty yeanw@k upon her wrinkled face.” It seems like
there is a story here, and that Charles Berkhewmasraware it, but efforts to uncover it for
publication in this volume have not been successfed.

3" Berkheimer inserts “(note on local tradition abBtiakespeare or Tewksbury Spring)” at this
point in his uncompleted manuscript. It is notwmovhat he had in mind. —ed.
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This was the occasion when Bishop McKendree wasetbito spend several
weeks in Half Moon Valley, nursing a broken leglie cabin of Peter Gray.

1815 This is the year of Asbury’s last visit to our éerence territory, and it
shall supply the conclusion to this examinatioroof Methodist beginnings. On
June 29 he crossed the new Columbia-Wrightsville bridge aame to York.
Here he spent several days with “son Francis Hgslivorth” from near
Baltimore, who had come to be the transcriber efitishop’s abridged journal.

Asbury’s comments at this point about the docunmenhas been writing
are revealing. He acknowledges the importancasjournal as a record of the
early history of Methodism in America. He saystttieey have approved it up to
1807. He deleted all that was purely personalaintb historical importance, he
says, but the original without deletions would liehe keenest interest to us to-
day. Unfortunately, it burned in the great 183@B&oncern fire in New York.

On Friday, July 7, they came to Carlisle. Asbragnained to preach on
Sunday in the new chapel, where “the truth was’felin Monday, July 10, they
arrived in Shippensburg — where Asbury felt hisltielaetter, despite the heat and
the rough ride. They lodged with John Davis, a<€leader and local preacher —
whom Asbury had ordained a deacon. He had beeretaddist itinerant as a
single man, but in 1815 he was the settled fathardaughter and five sons — one
of whom, Samuel Davi§ was now a traveling preacher on Monongahela itircu

Tuesday Asbury was on a “crowded road” headed rabWannettsburg,
where he lodged at the tavern of William Anders@&y. Wednesday he had made
it over the third mountain to Fort Littleton andetihome of James Hunter,
presiding elder of Carlisle District. Here theviekers rested, but they lent their
horses to help local farmers get in their harvest.

On Saturday, July 15, they rode 30 miles to Blo&uy [Everett], and
Asbury felt better after the rest of the last feaysl Apparently the church
building was not quite finished, for the journalte® “we went up to the little
chapel in the state it was, and said a few wordbdqeople.” It continues with,
“We lodged at a grand tavern [Barndollar’s] at nighd paid pretty well for our
shelter.”

By Monday, July 17, they were in Bedford. The cdagesbury overcome
with the heat again, Brother Bond preached whike ltishop listened. Before
another harvest season rolled around, Asbury’'stgeal had been garnered —
and he was gathered to the Great Harvest Homeotatd'clock this afternoon,
Sunday, March 31, 1816.”

38 While Berkheimer gives details of this incidentis manuscript, interested readers are referred
to The Chronicldor 2001, where the complete and annotated sfgpgars on pages 19-23. —ed.

39 Samuel Davis served with unusual effectiveness$ fgears and died in 1822 while serving
Foundry station in Washington DC. His obituary eas in theseneral Minutesor 1823.
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Appendix - John Low, Senior: an extended obituary. Appearing inThe
Christian Advocate and Journédr March 29, 1848, this was submitted by Henry
Doll — for many years a local preacher at Rock @hapd Shrewsbury.

“This venerable patriarch was born in Shrewsbumwnthip, York County Pa,
near the Maryland Line on thd" ®f June 1764, where he continued to reside umail t
day of his death. His father John Low was amorgfitst to receive the Methodist
preachers into his house, when scarcely an onedmoalintenance them. The first
preacher who preached in the neighborhood waspP@éitch. This was in 1774 [sic].
He was invited by Mr. Lawson to preach in his hougko afterwards put up a school
house on his land — but the property shortly gitessing into other hands, the Methodist
preachers were prohibited from holding meetings &my longer.

“Being deprived of a preaching house, John Lowdlder, now stepped forward
and invited them to preach at his house, whiclitteddfup with seats for the accommoda-
tion of the people — and prepared a stand for thagher, which is still retained in the
family as a relic of former days. During the winteey held their meetings in the house
— the room in which | am now writing — and in th@rsner season they repaired to the
barn. Thus they continued alternately in the harse the barn for the space of forty
years, when through the exertion of the son Jomthoghers, they succeeded in erecting a
good substantial meeting house — on part of his amdhCaleb Low’s land, called Rock
Chapel, which was dedicated by Joseph Toy in the ¥816.

“Prior to the erecting of the chapel, many sould haen converted in the house
and barn through the instrumentality of Methodistgzhers, notwithstanding they were
then despised. Among the converts of those daysubject of this notice is to be in-
cluded, though not converted in the barn. Aboattime of the formation of the Harford
circuit by John Cooper and George Hagerty, there avaeeting held at the house of Mr.
Grover in the neighborhood of what is now calledsiMeberty, or Meredith’s meeting
house. Here it was that John and his brother lamse converted. The following con-
ference year, 1789, John Allen and John Rowan wapp®inted to the Harford circuit.
Rowan, on the 230f September, founded a society of five persorenfii Doll, Nancy
Gibbs, Cassandra Sparks, Matthew Sparks and wife¢ Aucleus of a large membership
which has spread over a large section of the cpunBefore the year closed it had
increased to 20, of which John Low was one.

“Of those who joined the society about the timeditk there are still a few who
survive him — namely, his brother Isaac who is mowis 89" year, Grazell Fife aged 87,
and Susannah Morris aged 80. From these reliearyf Methodism we might still glean
some reminiscences connected with the history ofboanch of the Christian Church.
But in a few years at most, they will have gongoin with those who have gone before
them — when the opportunity will be gone forevelad the writer been a little more par-
ticular in this respect, he might have gatherednuyeh from the deceased while living,
which possibly might have been interesting to thake survive him — but like many
others, he neglected or did not appreciate the rypity until it was too late.

“John Low, Senior, was extraordinary. There waarcgy one of the old
preachers that he could not give some “passagss ilifdi — such was the tenacity of his
memory, which continued to the last. He was reialsk communicative, and never
seemed better pleased than when he had a preackeme other of his friends around
him. On a cold winter’'s day with plenty of wood feed the old Franklin stove, which
those who visited him will recollect, he appearedenhjoy himself in recounting the
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incidents with which his mind was stored relativethie rise and progress of Methodism
in this country, especially in his own neighborhood

“He was an ardent lover of the Church of his eathpice — and was always
pleased to hear of her prosperity, and grieved vghenwvas menaced. He lived to see her
pass through many difficulties and trials, but medespaired of her final triumph — pro-
vided there was no departure from these cardinetrides and forms of our holy re-
ligion, the inculcation and practice of which haseb so signally blessed in the con-
version and building up and salvation of thousasidse the introduction of Methodism
among us.

“It is somewhat remarkable that he was never cexfito his bed by sickness but
twice till his last affliction — once with a brokdag occasioned by the kick of a horse,
and another time from a fall which deprived himhi§ senses. The affliction which
terminated in his removal from time to eternity ecoenced on the 35of January and
continued until the ¥ of February, 1848, when without a doubt or linggrgroan he
breathed his last — in the'®gear of his age.

“He was a member of the M.E. Church upwards of 88ry, respected an be-
loved by all who knew him. For a number of yeagsacted in the capacity of a trustee
and steward — and we might add sexton, for theingehbuse being so contiguous to his
dwelling he had the sole charge of rendering it footable for those who worshipped in
it. He could well have adopted the language ofRkalmist who said, ‘| would rather be
a doorkeeper in the house of my God than to dwehé tents of wickedness.’

“He always appeared to feel a remarkable attachioethie preachers, especially
to those who visited him at his own home. Among thany who have partaken of his
hospitality may be remembered Bishops Asbury, Malea and Roberts. Those of an
earlier age, when his father was living, includeab&t Strawbridge, George and John
Hagerty, Jesse Lee, and Captain Webb — all haviegcped in his house except the last
named.

“Some who had but an imperfect acquaintance with and his real circum-
stances have thought him wanting in liberality.isThconceive, was not well founded. |
never knew him, nor heard of an instance of hinvirgaturned any one away without
giving him something — especially when it was fbe tpromotion of the cause of the
Redeemer. Though a good liver in an humble andedtimway, he was never known to
have a great deal of money over and above whatneesssary to meet his liabilities —
yet he was always willing to do his part in supjppgrtthe Gospel among those with
whom he lived. A short time before he died, hetrdged an obligation which he held
against the trustees of the meeting house amouratiig43.60, saying it should never be
demanded. Some of the last acts of his life wheehaving some repairs done to the
meeting house and in furnishing a good copy oBitée for the use of the same.

“As he was about to occupy the old homestead atief — when he was about to
die — enjoined upon him to take care of the preacfend entertain) as long as he lived,
as he had done before him. This for three antythears was strictly attended to, as all
who knew him well can testify. The same injunctimais been laid upon his nephew,
John Low, Junior, the present occupant — who | haveloubt will carry it out to the
letter.”

Henry Doll
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